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The articles of association (hereinafter, the “Articles of Association”), included in this 

Information Document have been translated into English from Spanish version and their 

content appears for information purposes. In case of any discrepancies and for legal purposes, 

the Spanish version registered in the Commercial Registry shall prevail.



 

 
 

Wellness Resorts SOCIMI – 24 December 2024      4 

Company representative for the Information Document 

The members of the board of directors (hereinafter, the “Board of Directors”), Fernando Olaso 

Echevarría, Ignacio Antoñanzas Alvear, Miguel Zurita Goñi, Carlos Esteban Librero, Christian 

Harisch, Guillermo Castellanos O’Shea, Delia Izquierdo Esteban and Javier Basagoiti Miranda, 

expressly authorized for the purposes of the present Information Document, acting for and on 

behalf of Wellness Resorts SOCIMI, S.A. (hereinafter, the “Company” or “Wellness”), hereby 

declare that, to the best of our knowledge, the information provided in the Information 

Document is fair and accurate and that, to the best of our knowledge, the Information Document 

is not subject to any material omissions and that all relevant information is included in the 

Information Document. 
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1 Summary 

The following is a summary of some of the information contained in this Information Document. 

Renta 4 urges to read the entire Information Document carefully, including the risk factors, the 

Company’s historical financial statements, the notes to those financial statements and the 

valuation of the Asset. 

1.1 Company name, registered office and registration for the SOCIMI tax regime 

1.1.1. Company name 

WELLNESS RESORTS SOCIMI, S.A. as legal name, and WELLNESS RESORTS as commercial name. 

1.1.2. Registered office 

Paseo de la Castellana 91, 8th floor, 28046 Madrid, Spain.  

1.1.3. Commercial Registry information 

The Company is registered within the Commercial Registry of Madrid at volume 45147, sheet 

31, page M-794426, with tax identification number A-13677489 and legal entity identifier 

number (“LEI”) 9598004KBME3LWBDH008. 

1.1.4. Registration for the SOCIMI tax regime 

On July 27th, 2023, the Company’s shareholders agreed on requesting the application of the REIT 

special tax regime that was notified to the Spanish tax authorities (Agencia Estatal de la 

Administración Tributaria) on September 15th, 2023. 

1.2 Company purpose 

Article 2.- “Corporate purpose 

The corporate purpose of the Company consists on the performance of the following 

activities: 

a) Acquisition and development of urban real estate for subsequent rental. The development 

activity includes the refurbishment of buildings under the terms established in Act 37/1992 

of 28 December 1992 on Value Added Tax, as amended from time to time; 

b) Holding shares in the capital of other listed public limited real estate investment 

companies ("SOCIMIs") or other companies located outside the Spanish territory that have 

the same corporate purpose as the former and are subject to a regime similar to that 

established for such SOCIMIs with respect to the mandatory legal or statutory profit 

distribution policy; 

c) Holding shares in the capital of other entities, resident or not in Spanish territory, whose 

main corporate purpose is the acquisition of urban real estate for lease and which are subject 

to the same regime established for the SOCIMIs with regard to the mandatory, legal or 
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statutory policy of distribution of profits and which meet the investment requirements set 

out in Article 3 of the SOCIMI Act or any future regulation replacing it; and 

d) Holding shares or holdings in Real Estate Collective Investment Institutions regulated by 

Act 35/2003, of 4 November, on Collective Investment Institutions, or any law that may 

replace it in the future.” 

1.3 Duration 

Article 5.- “The duration of the company is indefinite.” 

1.4 Financial year 

Article 36.- “The financial year shall coincide with the calendar years; therefore it shall 

commence on 1 January and be close on 31 December of each year.” 

1.5 Dividends 

Article 38.- “Special rules for the distribution of dividends: 

1. The yearly financial statements shall include the balance sheet, the profit and loss account, 

the yearly statement of changes in equity, the cash flow statement (which shall not be 

required in the cases where provided at any given time by laws in effect) and the report. 

2. Mandatory Distribution of Dividends. The Company shall be obliged to distribute in the form 

of dividends to its shareholders, once the corresponding commercial obligations have been 

fulfilled, the profit obtained in the financial year in the following manner in compliance with 

the SOCIMIs Law, as amended from time to time and, in particular, without prejudice to such 

amendments: 

a. HUNDRED PERCENT (100%) of profits from dividends or shares in the profits 

distributed by the entities mentioned in article 2 of the Articles of Association.  

b. At least FIFTY PERCENT (50%) of the profits deriving from the transfer of fixed assets 

and shares or stakes subject to compliance with its main corporate object as 

mentioned in article 2 of these Articles of Association, made once the period 

mentioned in article 3.3 of the SOCIMIs Law has passed; in other words:  

i. in the case of real estate, from the expiry of three years from the date on 

which it was first rented or offered for rent; and  

ii. in the case of shares or units, as from THREE (3) years after acquisition.  

The portion of these profits not distributed as a dividend, may be re-invested in other real 

estate or shares subject to compliance with said object within THREE (3) years after the date 

of transfer or, in lack thereof, must be fully distributed together with the profits, where 

applicable, from the year in which the reinvestment period ends. If the elements subject of 

reinvestment are transferred before the THREE (3) year period after the date they were 

leased or offered for lease for the first time, in the case of fixed property, or from the date of 

acquisition in the case of shares or stakes, any profits must be fully distributed along with 
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the profits, where applicable, from the year in which they were transferred.  

c. At least EIGHTY PERCENT (80%) of the remaining profits. 

The distribution of the dividend shall be declared within six (6) months after the end of each 

financial year. 

3. Dividend Payment Executability. Unless otherwise agreed, the dividend shall be due and 

payable no later than one month after the date of the resolution by which the General 

Meeting or, where applicable, the governing body has agreed on its distribution. 

4. In those cases in which the distribution of dividends makes or may make it compulsory for 

the Company to pay the special tax provided for in section 9.2 of the SOCIMIs Act or any law 

replacing it, the Company's Board of Directors may require the shareholders who have 

caused the accrual of such tax to compensate the Company. 

It will be understood that a shareholder has caused the accrual of the special tax of article 9.2 

of the SOCIMIs Act if: 

a. dividends distributed to the shareholder are subject to an effective tax rate under 

10%:  

i. at the level of the shareholder (unless the shareholder is taxed under the 

SOCIMI regime provided for in the SOCIMI Law); or  

ii. at the level of any shareholder with a shareholding of at least 5%) where the 

non-resident shareholder applies a regime similar to that established for 

SOCIMIs and which is subject to a regime similar to that established for 

SOCIMIs in terms of the mandatory, legal or statutory profit distribution policy 

(the "Minimum Taxation Requirement"); or 

b. the shareholder is in breach of the obligation to provide from time to time the 

information and documentation required under Article 10 "Ancillary Benefits" of these 

Articles of Association in relation to the rate of taxation to which dividends are subject 

under the SOCIMIs Act (the "Ancillary Benefits"). 

The amount of compensation payable by the shareholder to the Company shall be equal to the 

amount of corporate income tax (and any surcharges, late payment interest or penalties) arising 

for the Company from the payment of the dividend which serves as the basis for the calculation 

of the special levy. 

If the indemnity is subject to corporate income tax or any other tax payable by the Company 

(either directly or by withholding or deduction by the shareholder paying the indemnity), the 

amount of the indemnity shall be increased by the amount necessary to ensure that, after 

payment of the taxes on the indemnity, the Company receives, by way of indemnity, an amount 

equal to that which it would have received if the indemnity had not been subject to corporate 

income tax or any other tax. 

The amount of the indemnity shall be calculated by the Board of Directors. Unless otherwise 

agreed by the Board of Directors and provided it is possible, the compensation shall be payable 

on the day before the dividend is paid. 
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To the extent possible, the right to receive compensation shall be offset against the obligation 

to pay the dividend to be received by the shareholder who has triggered the obligation to pay 

the special levy. 

In those cases in which, at the time of payment of the dividend the shareholder has not complied 

with the Accessory Benefits in accordance with Article 10 of these Articles of Association, the 

Company may temporarily withhold from those shareholders or holders of economic rights over 

the shares of the Company an amount equivalent to the amount of the indemnity which they 

may be required to pay. 

Once the Accessory Benefits have been fulfilled and the Minimum Taxation Requirement has 

been met, the Company will release the amounts withheld from shareholders who have no 

obligation to indemnify the Company, unless the actual fulfillment of the Ancillary Benefit by the 

shareholder was communicated to the Company once the special levy under article 9.2 of the 

SOCIMIs Act became due. 

Furthermore, if the Accessory Benefits confirming compliance with the Minimum Taxation 

Requirement are not met within the time limits, the Company may set off the amount of the 

dividend attributable to a shareholder against the amount of the indemnity, paying the 

shareholder the positive difference in their favour, if any. 

In cases where the total amount of compensation causes or is likely to cause damage to the 

Company, the Board of Directors may (i) request an amount lower than the amount calculated 

in accordance with the above rules or (ii) alternatively defer part of the compensation to the 

next financial year. 

4. If the Company loses its status as a SOCIMI and such loss is attributable to the actions or 

omissions of any of the shareholders, the shareholder giving rise to such loss shall:  

a. indemnify the Company against any costs and taxes incurred by the Company as a 

result of the loss of the SOCIMI status; and  

b. to take, at its own expense, the actions and adopt the measures necessary to 

enable the Company to rejoin the SOCIMI regime and benefit from it again. 

The amount of compensation payable by the shareholder to the Company shall be equal to the 

amount of corporate income tax (and any surcharges, late payment interest or penalties) that 

would accrue to the Company as a result of the loss of the SOCIMI status. 

If the indemnity is subject to corporate income tax or any other tax payable by the Company 

(either directly or by withholding or deduction by the shareholder paying the indemnity), the 

amount of the indemnity shall be increased by the amount necessary to ensure that, after 

payment of the taxes on the indemnity, the Company receives, by way of indemnity, an amount 

equal to that which it would have received if the indemnity were not subject to corporate income 

tax or any other tax. 

The amount of the indemnity shall be calculated by the Board of Directors. Whenever possible, 

the indemnity shall be due the day before the payment by the Company of the corresponding 

expenses and taxes. 

5. In cases where the total amount of compensation causes or is likely to cause damage to the 
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Company, the Board of Directors may (i) request an amount lower than the amount 

calculated in accordance with the above rules or (ii) alternatively defer part of the 

compensation to the next financial year.” 

 

Company administration: management and controlling bodies 

Article 15.- “Corporate bodies 

“The corporate bodies are the General Meeting of Shareholders and the governing body, which 

have the respective powers granted by the Spanish Corporate Enterprise Act and these Articles 

of Association.” 

Article 16.- General Meeting of Shareholders 

1. The General Meeting is governed by the provisions of the Spanish Companies Act and these 

Articles of Association. 

2. The shareholders constituted in a General Meeting shall decide by majority vote upon the 

items under their legal or statutory competence as well as on matters the governing body 

decided to subject to its consideration. 

3. The General Meeting of Shareholders shall have the competence to resolve on all matters 

allocated by the Spanish Corporate Enterprises Act and by these Articles of Association. Any 

powers not legally or statutorily attributed to the General Meeting of Shareholders 

correspond to the Board of Directors. Likewise, the General Meeting may, in compliance with 

the legal and statutory provisions on capital increases and amendments to the Articles of 

Association, delegate the following to the governing body:  

a) the power to set the date on which a resolution already adopted to increase the 

share capital must be carried into effect in the amount agreed by the General 

Meeting, as well as to set the conditions thereof in all matters not provided for in the 

resolution of the General Meeting, the maximum period for the exercise of this 

delegated power being ONE (1) year from the date of the resolution of the General 

Meeting; and  

b) the power to resolve on one or more occasions to increase the share capital by 

means of cash contributions up to a specific amount at the time and in the amount 

decided by the Board of Directors, without prior consultation with the General 

Meeting, and such increases in share capital may in no case exceed half of the 

Company's share capital at the time of authorisation by the General Meeting, and the 

maximum period for the exercise of this delegated power shall be FIVE (5) years from 

the date of the resolution of the General Meeting. 

In virtue of the aforementioned delegation, the governing body shall have the power to 

provide new wording of the article in the Articles of Association relating to capital once the 
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capital increase is agreed and completed. 

4. All shareholders, including dissenters and those who have not attended a particular meeting, 

shall be subject to the resolutions of the General Meeting, notwithstanding any rights or 

actions they may be entitled to in accordance with the Spanish Corporate Enterprises Act. 

5. The Company shall at all times guarantee equal treatment of all shareholders who are in 

identical conditions in terms of information, participation and exercise of the right to vote at 

the General Meeting of Shareholders. 

 

2 History and key figures 

2.1 History of the Company 

WELLNESS RESORTS SOCIMI, S.A. is a Spanish real estate investment company, running under 

the special tax regime for Sociedad Cotizada de Inversión en el Mercado Inmobiliario (hereinafter, 

“SOCIMI” or “SOCIMI Regime”), regulated by Law 11/2009 of October 26th, as amended by Law 

16/2012, of December 27th, equivalent to a Real Estate Investment Trust (hereinafter, “REIT” or 

“REIT Regime”). On September 15th, 2023, the Company notified the tax authorities of its 

application to the REIT regime.  

The Company was incorporated for an indefinite period of time on April 20th, 2023, under the 

corporate name of “GASPIGUS INVESTMENTS, S.A.”, with a share capital of SIXTY THOUSAND 

EUROS (€ 60,000), of which FIFTEEN THOUSAND EUROS (€ 15,000) were disbursed, and FORTY-

FIVE THOUSAND EUROS (€ 45,000) were pending to be disbursed. The incorporation of the 

Company was notarized before the public notary of Madrid Mr. Fernando Fernández Medina, 

with protocol number 790 and registered in the Mercantile Registry of Madrid on May 8th, 2023 

(volume 45.147, folio 31, page M-794426, 1st inscription). 

On July 18th, 2023, Altamar Real Estate, S.L.U. (hereinafter, the “Manager” or “Altamar RE”) 

acquired HUNDRED PERCENT (100%) of the shares of the Company and became the sole 

shareholder. The acquisition price was established at FIFTEEN THOUSAND EUROS (€ 15,000), 

corresponding to the disbursed shared capital at the time of the acquisition. On the same date, 

Altamar RE resolved to change the Company’s corporate denomination to the current one, 

“Wellness Resorts SOCIMI, S.A.” and modified the Company’s purpose to the acquisition and 

refurbishment of urban real estate properties for leasing purposes, along with the adaptation 

of the Company’s bylaws to the special corporate tax REIT regime.  

On July 19th, 2023, the Company signed a service agreement (hereinafter, the ”Service 

Agreement”) with Altamar RE for the provision of certain services including, among others: (i) 

monitoring and supervising the setting-up and listing process of the Company; (ii) monitoring, 

supervising and executing the capital increases and the distributions to the shareholders; (iii) 

advising in the execution of the strategy, in the leasing, financing and budget approval for the 

Project and (iv) preparing, structuring and executing the divestment strategy. 
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On July 27th, 2023, with the purpose of establishing the basic criteria and investment policies, 

the management of the Company, its operation and the relations between the shareholders and 

other parties involved, the Company formalized an investment and shareholders agreement 

(hereinafter, the “Investment and Shareholders Agreement”) with local and international 

investors, who accepted the terms of the Investment and Shareholders Agreement and the 

investors made their investment commitments in the Company.  

On the same date, the Company signed, among others:  

(i) A deposit agreement (hereinafter, the "Deposit Agreement”) for the acquisition in a 

period of TWELVE (12) months from the signing of the Deposit Agreement, of the plot 

number 76 of the allotment project of sector UR-10B “Finca Cortesín” of the General Plan 

of Casares (hereinafter, the “Plot” or the “Asset”), with a total cost of ONE MILLION 

EUROS (€ 1,000,000), in order to develop a wellness centre (hereinafter, the “Project”). 

(ii) A lease agreement (hereinafter, the “Lease Agreement”) between the Company and 

Lanserhof, one of the leading health resort operators, to lease the Asset on a long-term 

basis. 

On August 4th, 2023, Altamar RE decided to proceed with the disbursement of the outstanding 

share capital, in the amount of FORTY-FIVE THOUSAND EUROS (€ 45,000) corresponding to 

SEVENTY-FIVE PERCENT (75%) of the nominal value of all the shares. In the same act, Altamar RE 

decided to increase, expressly waiving its pre-emptive subscription right, by means of monetary 

contributions, the share capital by ONE MILLION SIX HUNDRED TWELVE THOUSAND AND FIVE 

HUNDRED EUROS (€ 1,612,500), by issuing and placing into circulation ONE MILLION SIX 

HUNDRED TWELVE THOUSAND AND FIVE HUNDRED (1,612,500) new shares, with a par value of 

ONE EURO (€ 1) each, fully disbursed, numbered consecutively from SIXTY THOUSAND AND ONE 

(60,001) to ONE MILLION SIX HUNDRED SEVENTY-TWO THOUSAND AND FIVE HUNDRED 

(1,672,500), both inclusive and with the same rights as those already in existence. These new 

shares were issued with a total share premium of FIVE HUNDRED THIRTY-SEVEN THOUSAND 

AND FIVE HUNDRED EUROS (€ 537,500), being the total capital increase plus share premium of 

TWO MILLION ONE HUNDRED AND FIFTY THOUSAND EUROS (€ 2,150,000). 

On February 16th, 2024, the Manager requested to the Company's shareholders to pay up capital 

in the amount of NINE HUNDRED THOUSAND AND SIX EUROS (€ 900,006), which were 

structured as a shareholder contribution. 

On July 3rd, 2024, the Company acquired HUNDRED PERCENT (100%) of the shares of Solana 224 

Asset Management, S.L.U. (hereinafter, the “Sub-SOCIMI”) and became the sole shareholder of 

the Sub-SOCIMI. The acquisition price was established at THREE THOUSAND EUROS (€ 3,000), 

corresponding to the disbursed shared capital at the time of the acquisition. 

On July 24th, 2024, the Company signed an assignment agreement (hereinafter, the 

“Assignment Agreement”) to assign its contractual position under the Lease Agreement and 

the Deposit Agreement with the Sub-SOCIMI. Additionally, the Sub-SOCIMI adhered to the 

Service Agreement. 



 

 
 

Wellness Resorts SOCIMI – 24 December 2024      12 

On July 25th, 2024, the Sub-SOCIMI signed a facility agreement for a total amount of FIFTY-FIVE 

MILLION EUROS (€ 55,000,000) for the financing of the acquisition of the Plot and for the 

development of the Project (hereinafter, the “Loan Agreement”). 

On July 31st, 2024, the Sub-SOCIMI signed a sale and purchase agreement (hereinafter, the “SPA”) 

with the seller to acquire the Plot for a total amount of FIFTEEN MILLION EUROS (€ 15,000,000), 

of which ONE MILLION EUROS (€ 1,000,000) were already paid at the signing of the Deposit 

Agreement mentioned previously, financed part with the capital of the Loan Agreement.  

On July 31st, 2024, the Company conducted an additional capital increase that was fully 

subscribed for FORTY-FIVE THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED AND SIX EUROS (€ 45,706). The shares 

were issued with a total share premium of FIFTEEN THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED AND THIRTY-

FOUR EUROS AND FORTY-FOUR CENTS (€ 15,234.44). The capital increase plus share premium 

amounted to SIXTY THOUSAND NINE HUNDRED AND FOURTY EUROS AND FOURTY-FOUR CENTS 

(€ 60,940.44). Additionally, the shareholders disbursed capital in the amount of TWENTY-FIVE 

THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED AND TEN EUROS AND TWELVE CENTS (€ 25,510.12), which were 

structured as shareholders contribution. The total disbursed capital, including capital, share 

premium and shareholders contribution amounted to EIGHTY-SIX THOUSAND FOUR HUNDRED 

AND FIFTY EUROS AND FIFTY-SEVEN CENTS (€ 86,450.57).  

On September 12th, 2024, the Company conducted an additional capital increase that was fully 

subscribed to FOUR MILLION AND TWO EUROS (€ 4,000,002). The shares were issued with a 

total share premium of FOUR MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED NINETY-ONE THOUSAND SEVEN 

HUNDRED AND NINETY-TWO EUROS CENTS (€4,791,792). The capital increase plus share 

premium amounted to EIGHT MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED NINETY-ONE THOUSAND SEVEN 

HUNDRED AND NINETY-FOUR EUROS  (€ 8,791,794.). Additionally, the shareholders disbursed 

capital in the amount of FIVE HUNDRED EIGHT THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED AND SIX EUROS (€ 

508,206), which were structured as shareholders contribution. The total disbursed capital 

including capital, share premium and shareholders contribution amounted to NINE MILLION 

AND THREE HUNDRED THOUSAND EUROS (€ 9,300,000). 

As of the date of this Information Document, the total capital commitments from the investors 

of the Company stand at SIXTY-SIX MILLION THREE HUNDRED AND SIXTY-FIVE THOUSAND 

EUROS (€ 66,365,000). The disbursed capital stands at TWELVE MILLION FOUR HUNDRED 

NINETY-SIX THOUSAND FOUR HUNDRED AND FIFTY-SIX EUROS AND FIFTY-SEVEN CENTS  (€ 

12,496,456.57) which is break down as: FIVE MILLION SEVENTY HUNDRED EIGHTEEN THOUSAND 

TWO HUNDRED AND EIGHTY EUROS (€ 5,718,208) as share capital, FIVE MILLION THREE 

HUNDRED FORTY-FOUR THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED AND TWENTY-SIX EUROS AND TWENTY-

ONE CENTS (€ 5,344,526.21) as share premium and ONE MILLION FOUR HUNDRED THIRTY-

THREE THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED  TWENTY-TWO EUROS AND THIRTY-SIX CENTS (€ 

1,433,722.36) as shareholders contribution.   

The Company has 39 shareholders. The largest shareholder, with a TWENTY-THREE POINT 

THIRTY PERCENT (23.30%) of share capital, is INBEST GPF MULTI ASSET CLASS PRIME IV, S.A. The 

following table shows the shareholders who, as of October 31st, 2024, hold a significant interest 
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(10% or more) in the Company: 

Shareholder % Capital Nº of shares 

INBEST GPF MULTI ASSET CLASS PRIME IV, S.A. 23.30% 1,332,170 

 

In this case, and in compliance with article 4 of Law 10/2010, of April 28th, 2010, on anti-money 

laundering and counter-terrorist financing, in relation to the company “Wellness Resort SOCIMI, 

S.A.”, there is no natural person who ultimately holds or controls, directly or indirectly, more than 

25% of the capital or voting rights, or who otherwise exercises control, directly or indirectly, over 

the management of same. When this happens, it is the Board of Directors which acts as UBO. 

 

Selected Financial data 

The main figures registered by the Company for the last fiscal year and as of 31st December of 

the current year are described below: 

 

Profit and Loss Statement (€) 
Dec 31st 

2023 

CONTINUING OPERATIONS  

Revenue - 

Other operating income - 

Staff costs - 

Other operating expenses (177,010) 

External services (177,010) 

Taxes - 

Losses, impairment and change in trade provisions - 

Fixed asset depreciation - 

Other profit/(loss) - 

Operating profit/(loss) (177,010) 
  

Financial income - 

Financial expenses - 

Net financial income/(expense) - 

Profit/(loss) before tax (177,010) 

Income tax - 

Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations (177,010) 
  

Profit/(loss) for the year (177,010) 
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Balance Sheet 
Dec 31st 

2023 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 1,720,240 

Real Estate Investment 1,720,240 

CURRENT ASSETS 415,576 

Trade and other receivables- 293,274 

Other credits with Public Administrations 293,274 

Financial investments short term 4,374 

    Other investment assets 4,374 

Cash and cash equivalents- 117,929 

Cash and banks 117,929 

Total Assets 2,135,817 
  

EQUITY  

Shareholders’ funds  

Share capital 1,672,500 

Share Premium 537,500 

Profit/(loss) previous years  

Profit/(loss) for the year (177,010) 

Total equity 2,039,989 
  

CURRENT LIABILITIES  

Trade and other payables- 102,827 

Total current liabilities 102,827 

Total Equity and Liabilities 2,135,817 

The annual accounts have been drawn-up by the Company's directors within the financial 

reporting framework applicable to the Company, which is contained in: 

a) The Code of Commerce, Law on Structural Modifications, and other commercial legislation; 

b) General Chart of Accounts approved by Royal Decree 1514/2007, as amended by Royal 

Decree 602/2016 and Royal Decree 1/2021 and its Sector Adaptations, particularly the 

Sector Adaptation of the General Chart of Accounts for Real Estate Companies approved 

according to the Order of December 28th, 1994; 

c) The mandatory standards approved by Spain’s Institute of Auditors and Accountants; 

d) Other applicable Spanish accounting legislation; 

During 2023, the Company did not own any real estate asset as the Asset was acquired on July 

31st, 2024. 

The 2023 financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores S.L. 

(hereinafter “PwC”), addressed in Paseo de la Castellana, 259, B, 28046 Madrid, with a positive 

opinion without any reservations.  
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The 2023 financial statements (including the corresponding audit reports) are available on the 

Company’s website: www.wellnessresortsocimi.es 

For detailed information regarding the annual accounts of the Company for the fiscal year ended 

on December 31st, 2023, see section 8 of the present Information Document. 

 

3 Company activity 

3.1 Business model 

3.1.1   Introduction 

Wellness Resorts SOCIMI, S.A. is a company that is focused on the acquisition and development, 

through the Sub-SOCIMI, of a health resort in Finca Cortesín, Malaga, which will be operated by 

Lanserhof Group, a renowned health and wellness company that specializes in offering cutting-

edge medical services with a holistic approach.  

 

 

The Asset is located in Finca Cortesín, Casares, a superb location between Marbella and 

Sotogrande, in Costa del Sol, a world-class travel destination for wealthy travelers given its 

excellent hospitality infrastructures and its attractive weather conditions. It is surrounded by a 

large golf area and is located 2.5 kilometers from the nearest beach. Finca Cortesín resort is 

positioned and considered by prestigious awards as one of the leading hotels in Costa del Sol 

and in Southern Europe. 

The new Lanserhof resort will count with good connections by road through the AP-7 and A-7, 

that connects Malaga to Gibraltar, and therefore Marbella to Sotogrande. The nearest airport is 

in Gibraltar, less than 40 kilometers and about 43 minutes by car. In addition, Malaga airport, 

which is the 4th largest airport of Spain, is located 90 kilometers away. 

http://www.wellnessresortsocimi.es/
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Costa del Sol is one of Spain’s most important and demanded sun and beach destinations. It is a 

very attractive destination (for international tourists mainly) due to its Mediterranean 

gastronomy, its more than 70 golf courses, its 161 km long coast with great beaches and its 320 

sunny days per year. 

The region is renowned for its excellent hospitality infrastructure and favourable climate, 

boasting an average temperature of 18ºC throughout the year. The well-established tourism 

sector in Malaga, supported by top-tier transport links and hospitality services, has emerged as 

a leading driver of post-pandemic recovery and growth, ensuring a consistent flow of high-end 

visitors.  

A key addition to this luxury destination is the upcoming Lanserhof wellness resort, which is 

poised to elevate the wellness offering in Costa del Sol.  

 

The Asset will be operated by Lanserhof Group and will consist on a 71 guest rooms & suites 

resort and will include among others, modern medical facilities, a spa, a gym and a restaurant. 

The Project will also emphasize a strong commitment to sustainability, aiming to meet the 

highest standards in environmental responsibility. 

The Lanserhof Group has 40-year experience as wellness and health service provider and has 
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currently 3 operating resorts located in Germany and Austria, which are among the best health 

resorts worldwide. Lanserhof clients are mostly international (Germany, England, Russia and 

Scandinavia) with high purchasing power. The 3 operating resorts are (i) Sylt, which opened in 

2022 and offers the most complete service and treatment catalogue, (ii) Tegernsee, which 

opened in 2014 and (iii) Lans, which is the oldest resort, opened since 1984 but completely 

renovated in 2016. They all have approximately 70 rooms and are focused on sustainability 

specially in their design and construction. 

Lanserhof offers different programs to its clients including basic medical examinations and 

analysis combined with body and mind treatments, advanced medical diagnostics across a 

variety of specialties (gastrointestinal, cardiovascular, nutritional, immune system, genetics, and 

many others) and modern and ancient therapies to heal body and soul. 

Holistic health-related experiences include gastrointestinal, lab, nutrition, metabolism and 

immune system, pulmonary, cardiovascular, specialist examinations, movement and mobility, 

sonography, sleep, chrono medicine, etcetera. This concept is well known in the wellness sector 

and is offered by different operators along Europe such as Palazzo Fiuggi (Italy), Grand Resort 

and Medical Center Bad Ragaz (Switzerland), Chenot Palace Weggis (Switzerland), etcetera. 

Construction works started in September 2024 and are expected to take 24-months, after which 

operations will start. 

 

The Asset presents a unique opportunity to capitalize the strong growth in the wellness and 

healthcare tourism, leveraging the region’s unparalleled location, high-end infrastructure and 

the rising demand for experiential and luxury travel. 
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3.1.2  Agreements 

Service Agreement 

On July 19th, 2023, the Company signed a Service Agreement with Altamar RE by which Altamar 

RE will provide to the Company management services including among others, coordination of 

capital raising, listing of the Company, advising on the execution of the strategy, managing the 

relation with shareholders and intermediation in the context of the divestment of the Company. 

The agreement will be in place during the duration of the Project.  

Lease Agreement 

On July 27th, 2023, the Company signed a Lease Agreement with Lanserhof by virtue of which 

Lanserhof will be leasing the Asset. Lanserhof will operate it and will be in charge of its 

maintenance. The length of the lease is 25 years and extendable by another 25 years.  

Construction Agreement 

On July 24th, 2024, the development manager of the Project signed a fixed-price construction 

contract with a well-known Spanish constructor, Constructora San José, for the development of 

the Asset. The agreement will be in place during the development of the Asset. 

3.1.3  Investment profile 

Risk profile 

Value-add real estate investment focused on the development and leasing of a wellness resort 

in Finca Cortesín, Malaga. 

Investment rational 

i. Invest in a best-in-class wellness center operated by a renowned health and wellness 

operator, combining German cutting-edge medical technology and Southern Spanish 

superior climate and hospitality. 

ii. Resilience of the healthcare segment, driven by demographics (aging of population, 

higher life expectancy and ongoing rise of chronic diseases) and change in consumer 

habits (consumer focus on well-being and experiential leisure), less dependent on the 

economic cycle. 

iii. Asset to be operated by Lanserhof, an award-winning operator of health resorts 

established in 1984 with 3 centers under management in top locations in Germany and 

Austria. 

iv. Asset to be located in Finca Cortesín, an award-winning resort destination in Costa del 

Sol, which includes one of the best hotels in Southern Europe and a recognized golf 

course. 
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Business plan 

1. Acquisition of the Asset once construction licenses have been obtained and once the 

fixed-price construction contract has been signed with a tier one constructor. 

2. Development of the Asset during a period of 24 months. 

3. Leasing of the Asset upon delivery on a long-term-triple-net basis.  

Vehicle size 

As of the date of this Information Document, the vehicle has an equity commitment from the 

investors of SIXTY-SIX MILLION THREE HUNDRED AND SIXTY-FIVE THOUSAND EUROS (€ 

66,365,000). 

Investment strategy and competitive advantages 

The Company focuses on the acquisition, development and leasing, through its Sub-SOCIMI, of 

a best-in-class wellness center in Finca Cortesín, Malaga. There will be no other investment or 

acquisition. 

 

Competitive advantages 

 

The new wellness resort at Finca Cortesín will have several competitive advantages that set it 

apart: 

 

❖ Prime location: positioned between Marbella and Sotogrande, the resort will benefit 

from being located in one of the most sought-after areas of Costa del Sol, known for its 

excellent climate and luxury amenities. This prime location is expected to draw both 

domestic and international guests; 

 

❖ State-of-the-art facilities: with modern wellness facilities (including a comprehensive 

spa, a fitness centre, meditation areas and health-focused dining options), the resort will 

enhance guest satisfaction and establish itself as a leader in wellness tourism; 

 

❖ Exclusive offerings: by providing tailored wellness programs, including medical 

consultations, fitness classes and holistic therapies, the resort will differentiate itself 

from its competitors by creating a unique value proposition that resonates with health-

conscious travellers; 

 

❖ Top tier 1 operator: asset to be operated by Lanserhof, a leading operator of health 

resorts with a longstanding experience in health and hospitality management.  

 
Source: https://lanserhof.com/en/blog/tegernsee-receives-highest-ranking/ 
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3.2 The market 

Spanish real estate market 

Spanish real estate market could close 2024 with an investment volume of circa € 10,000 M, 

exceeding initial estimations and 2025 is expected to continue the upward trend. 

Sales of shopping centres and retail parks have been the main driver of the upturn. The 

dynamism of the logistics sector has consolidated this option as the preferred choice for 

investors.  One element that has made a difference in the market in 2024 has been the increase 

in change of use transactions. In this context, mainly offices have been converted to residential, 

healthcare, hotel or life science uses.  

Housing sales continue to show the upward trend started in mid-2023 and in the first 9 months 

of 2024 grew by 6.1%. New building permits started the year increasing (+14.8% YoY between 

Jan-May 24). The mismatch between supply and demand continues to encourage price growth 

and in 1Q’24 they rose +4.3% YoY. 

Source: Cushman & Wakefield, BBVA 

Malaga real estate market 

Malaga region is facing an unprecedented growth which is expected to continue in the coming 

years.  

In the residential market, the limited availability of land remains a major challenge for the region 

with land market booming. 

Demographic, economic and social shifts — including an ageing population and the rise of 

health tourism — are fuelling demand for healthcare and housing services. To meet this growing 

demand, the number of beds will need to increase substantially.  

With key tourism indicators continuing to rise and operating metrics at all-time highs, Malaga 

has seen a significant increase in investment in hotels and tourist apartment buildings.  

Healthcare segment  

The healthcare segment is less resilient to economic cycles as it is mainly driven by 

demographics (ageing population, higher life expectancy and ongoing rise of chronic diseases) 

and by changes in consumer habits (consumer focus on well-being and experiential). This has 

been seen during different crisis, such as the Covid-19 pandemic, since the target clientele for 

these kind of schemes suffers less in periods of economic downfall and has more free time, 

being schemes of this sort less subject to seasonality among others. 

Marbella is a consolidated touristic destination and an upcoming wellness destination. By April 

2024, visitors and overnight stays in Marbella increased by 1.2% and 4.6% respectively 

compared to YTD 2023 and by 6.2% and 6.6% respectively compared to YTD 2019. Furthermore, 
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Marbella benefits from an extended seasonality, with a stable season of 7 months between April 

and October, peaking in June, July and August. Additionally, Marbella is consolidating as a 

wellness destination with other players established in the area such as Buchinger. 

The business model benefits from demographics, development of healthcare and change in 

consumer habits, trends less dependent to economic cycle. 

Source: Deloitte 

Ageing populations 

World’s population and in Spain in particular, is becoming increasingly older. Population has 

gone from being a pyramid in the 1900’s in which people below 30 stood at the base, to have 

people between 40- and 60-years old accounting for the highest share nowadays. 

However, seniors nowadays have nothing to do with seniors of the past. As of today, the elder 

population has more purchasing power than the young population and have more free time. 

Moreover, seniors care a lot more about their quality of life than they ever did. 

 

Source: Populationpyramid.net 

Increase in life expectancy 

Advances in medicine, improvement in the living conditions and a better healthcare system have 

contributed to a continuous rise in life expectancy. In many countries, life expectancy now 

exceeds 80 years.  



 

 
 

Wellness Resorts SOCIMI – 24 December 2024      22 

 

Source: Our World in Data 

Rising of chronic diseases 

As population age, chronic diseases like diabetes, heart diseases, cancers and 

neurodegenerative conditions (such as Alzheimer’s) have become more common nowadays. 

Lifestyle factors, such as poor diet, lack of exercise and increased stress contribute to the 

prevalence of these conditions. Managing chronic diseases requires more complex and 

sustained medical care, shifting healthcare priorities from acute care to long-term management. 

In 1990, 42% of the total deaths were caused by cardiovascular diseases, cancers and diabetes 

while in 2019, this percentage increase up to 56%. 

 

Source: United Nations 

Increase in health expenditure 

With increasing aging population and the rise of chronic diseases, healthcare expenditures have 

steadily increased.  

Healthcare expenditure per capita and overall national spending on healthcare have 

demonstrated consistent and resilient growth, driven by a combination of factors, including 

advancements in medical technology, an aging population requiring more complex and 
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prolonged care, and the increasing prevalence of chronic diseases. Despite economic 

fluctuations, healthcare spending trends to remain a priority for governments and individuals. 

Moreover, the rising costs of pharmaceuticals, diagnostic tools, and innovative treatments 

further contribute to the upward trajectory of expenditure.  

 

Source: World Bank 

Health tourism evolution 

Wellness trips are becoming more important, having become in the past years, a fair share of 

the population’s main reason for travelling. 

For years, clients have been able to get pampered in hotels with spas, in which clients were able 

to relax and escape their everyday lives and enjoy the different facilities and treatments they 

offered. Nowadays, the concept has further evolved including nutrition, fitness and, most 

importantly, the more holistic approaches such as medical wellness. 

While most companies, and more specifically the tourism industry, suffered due to the 

pandemic, medical retreats thrived. These schemes are aimed at the higher end clientele, with 

a high level of disposable income and with more flexible jobs that allow vacations to be spread 

throughout the year (making these schemes less subject to seasonality).  
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Source: Global Wellness Institute 

Experiential leisure 

Population is placing more value on experiences that contribute to a sense of well-being and 

fulfilment. Experiential leisure (activities that offer personal enrichment, social interaction, and 

a break from daily routines) are becoming increasingly popular. This includes wellness tourism, 

immersive travel experiences, fitness and mindfulness retreats. People are seeking more 

meaningful ways to spend their time, investing in experiences that contribute to personal 

growth, relaxation, and health rather than just material goods. 

3.3 Description of the competitive environment 

Spain tourism industry has proven its strength versus other countries. Wellness market is a rising 

priority after Covid–19, backed by a multibillion industry. 

❖ The medical spa market, which amounted to $ 16.5 bn in 2022 and c. $ 17.7 bn in 2023 

(preliminary data), is expected to grow by 241% by 2031, reaching the record-breaking 

figure of $ 56.25 bn. It is important to note that in 2024, the medical spa market is 

expected to generate $ 18.91 bn. The main driver is the ageing of the world’s population, 

leading to elder people with higher purchasing powers and more free time to look for 

ways to improve their health and ageing process. 

As of today, Spain counts with 2 operating wellness centres and one centre under construction: 

439

563

617

720

2013 2015 2017 2019

GLOBAL WELLNESS TOURISM1 EXPENDITURE; $BN
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❖ Sha wellness: scheme located in El Albir, Alicante, that features 93 luxurious suites and 

offers comprehensive wellness and medical programs rooted in integrative and 

preventive medicine based on 9 principles: healthy nutrition, natural therapies, 

preventive medicine, and healthy aging, advanced aesthetics, cognitive stimulation, 

emotional health, inner balance, and physical performance. While this competitor has a 

similar concept to Lanserhof, its location is not comparable to Marbella. 

❖ Buchinger Wilhelmi: Marbella currently counts with a Buchinger Wilhelmi scheme, 

renowned for its therapeutic fasting programs, designed to promote health and wellness 

through controlled fasting, nutritional education and integrative medicine. This is not 

considered to be a direct competitor since its method is mainly based on fasting in order 

to achieve weight loss, a different concept than the one offered by Lanserhof. 

❖ Incosol: Ilanga Investments has purchased the former Incosol Hotel in Marbella, to 

reposition it by investing c. € 150 m and convert it into a «wellness clinic and resort», 

adding 160 rooms by the beginning of 2026. The asset will be operated by Wellness Clinic 

Resort, a new operator with no track record or medical expertise. The Company will not 

compete with Incosol for several reasons amongst others: (i) the asset will be operated 

by a new operator with no track record or medical experience and not benefiting from a 

customer base and (ii) the asset is located in Marbella but in a less consolidated and 

luxury area compared to Finca Cortesín, a worldwide recognized luxury location. 

At a European level, competitive schemes are mainly located in Italy (6 wellness centres spread 

across Italy), Switzerland (4 wellness centres located spread across the country), Austria (3 

centres located close to the borders with Germany and Italy) and Germany (2 centres located in 

the south of Germany). Additionally, Portugal and Greece count with one wellness centre each. 

Most of the centres are operated by local operators except for a Buchinger Wilhelmi clinic in 

Constance Lake in Germany. 

The future Lanserhof scheme within Finca Cortesin will stand out from its competitors both in 

terms of accommodation due to its location in a privileged touristic hotspot, and in terms of 

wellness/clinical treatments due to the variety of treatments and programs supply as well as its 

specialized operator. 

Source: Data Bridge Marker Research, El Confidencial, Deloitte 

3.4 Related party transactions as disclosed in the annual accounts 

There are no movements, balances or information regarding related party transactions 

disclosed in the annual accounts. 

3.5  Dependence on license and patents 

The Company is not dependent on any trademark, patent or intellectual property right that 

affects its business. 

 

Currently, the Asset has the relevant licenses for its activity. 
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3.6  Insurance contracts 

As of the date of the Information Document, the following insurance are in place: 

(i) Construction All Risks and Advanced Loss Profit (hereinafter, “ALOP”): provided by the 

construction company where the Sub-SOCIMI and the development manager are 

included as beneficiaries. 

(ii) General liability insurance from the construction company which includes the Sub-

SOCIMI as beneficiary. 

(iii) General liability insurance from the development manager which includes the Sub-

SOCIMI as beneficiary. 

(iv) Decennial insurance with the Sub-SOCIMI being a beneficiary. 

 

 

4 Organization 

4.1 Company’s functional organization 

As of the date of this Information Document, the Company has 0 employees. 

4.2 Directors of the Company 

Mr. Fernando Olaso – Chairman 

Mr. Fernando Olaso co-founded Altamar Real Estate in 2006 and is its Managing Partner since 

then. Prior to that, Mr. Olaso was the Founding Partner of Capital Alianza (1996-2006), a privately 

held mid-market private equity firm. He was actively involved in 13 transactions and played a 

key role in the turnaround and internationalization of Maxam, one of the most successful private 

equity investments to date in Spain. Previously he worked for UBS (M&A department) in London 

(1995-1996). Mr. Olaso has an MBA with honours from Columbia Business School (New York) 

and a B.S. in Business Administration, Magna Cum Laude, from Boston University (Boston). 

Mr. Ignacio Antoñanzas 

Mr. Ignacio Antoñanzas is the Managing Partner and Founding Partner of Altamar 

Infraestructuras. Mr. Antoñanzas joined AltamarCAM Partners in 2015 to start a new division 

that focuses on investments in the infrastructure sector. During the last eight years, and based 

in Chile, he was the General Manager for Latin America of ENDESA and CEO of Enersis, leading 

the group in five countries (Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Perú and Colombia), with 12.000 employees, 

16,000 MW of power, 7 distribution companies and 14 million clients. Before his time in Chile, 

he held the position of Deputy General Director of Strategy at ENDESA, coordinating the 

investment banking activities during Endesa’s public take over. Previously, he was General 

Manager of ENDESA Net Factory. He was named International CEO of the Year by the Latin Trade 

Group in 2013. Mr. Antoñanzas holds a degree in Mining Engineering from the Polytechnic 

University of Madrid, with a Major in Energy and Fuels. 
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Mr. Miguel Zurita  

Mr. Miguel Zurita is Managing Partner, Co-Chair and Co-Head of Altamar Private Equity as well 

as Head of the ESG Committee of AltamarCAM Partners. He co-manages the Private Equity area 

and as Co-Chief Investment Officer he participates in the investment committees of the 

AltamarCAM Partners. Mr. Zurita has an extensive experience in the Private Equity industry in 

which he has worked for more than 25 years, having coordinated multiple direct Private Equity 

investments in diverse sectors. Before joining AltamarCAM Partners, Mr. Zurita was Senior 

Partner at Mercapital, a leading investor in the Spanish middle market where, in addition to 

leading investments, he actively participated in fund raising and in the firm’s expansion in Latin 

America. Previously, he was Investment Director of Mexcapital, a pioneer in Private Equity firm 

in Mexico. Mr. Zurita holds an MBA with honours from INSEAD, a degree in Law and Business 

Administration from ICADE, and has taught Financial Management at ICADE and IEB. Mr. Zurita 

was also president of ASCRI (Spanish Association of Capital, Growth and Investment) in 2018 

and 2019. 

Mr. Carlos Esteban  

Mr. Carlos Esteban is Managing Director of the real estate department of Altamar CAM Partners, 

where he has worked since 2013. Since joining the firm, Mr. Esteban has been involved in 

numerous real estate transactions across different sectors and geographies. From 2017 until 

2021, Mr. Esteban was a member of the investment committee of Living Residential SOCIMI, S.A. 

(previously, Elix Vintage Residential SOCIMI, S.A.), a listed real estate company focused on the 

aggregation, refurbishment, leasing and sale of a portfolio of 22 residential buildings in the city 

centre of Madrid and Barcelona (ca. €250mn GAV), in partnership with KKR. Before joining 

AltamarCAM, Mr. Esteban worked at the Strategy and Business Development Department of 

Exolum (formerly known as Compañía Logística de Hidrocarburos), a global oil and gas 

midstream company, participating in the analysis of investment opportunities across the US and 

Canada. Mr. Esteban holds a degree in Business Administration from the Universidad Pontificia 

Comillas (ICADE E-2). 

Mr. Javier Basagoiti 

Mr. Javier Basagoiti founded Corpfin Capital Real Estate Partner (CCREP) in 2008. He has more 

than 30 years of experience in the real estate industry. He has been involved in commercial and 

residential projects such as the sale of more than 50,000 residential units and the management 

of 100 million square metres of land for the construction of more than 100,000 residential units. 

Previously, he was the Managing Director of the real estate and construction companies Fadesa 

and Martinsa-Fadesa. Mr. Basagoiti has also held senior management positions at BBVA bank 

and Ferrovial. Since December 2020, he has also been Chairman of ASOCIMI, an association 

comprising and managed exclusively by Listed Real Estate Investment Companies (SOCIMIs). In 

2021, ASOCIMI and Hogar Sí created the first Social SOCIMI in Spain with the aim of combating 

homelessness and guaranteeing access to affordable rental housing for people in a situation of 

residential vulnerability. Mr. Basagoiti currently holds the position of Chairman or Member of 

the Board of Directors of 18 listed companies (Corpfin Capital Prime Retail, INBEST SOCIMI and 
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INBEST GFP SOCIMI). Mr. Basagoiti holds a degree in Law from the Complutense University of 

Madrid and a Master's Degree in Real Estate Management (MDI). 

Dr. Christian Harisch 

Dr. Christian Harisch has been part of the Lanserhof Group for over 20 years and has been the 

company’s CEO since 2010. In addition, he is involved in the ownership management of several 

hotels and restaurants (part of Harisch Hotels, family-owned hotel business with ca 125 years 

of history) as well as real estate business Rutter Immobilien 40 assets, 600 k sqm across Austria). 

Dr. Harisch has a degree in Tourism Management at the at the Tourismus Akademie Klessheim 

and a doctorate in Law from the Univeristy of Salzburg. Awarded Winner “Hotelier of the Year 

2020” in Austria, Obmann (president) of the Kitzbuehel Tourismus Organisation from 2002 to 

2012 and since 2020 and award Winner “Restauranteur of the Year 2024” 

Mr. Guillermo Castellanos 

Mr. Guillermo Castellanos is Founder and Managing Partner at GPF Partners. Previously, he was 

a member of the M&A team at Lazard, mainly focused on restructuring transactions in Spain. 

Mr. Castellanos began his professional career at Altan Capital Partners, the first Private Equity 

Real Estate Fund of Funds in Spain. Mr. Castellanos is an MBA graduate from the New York 

University Stern School of Business and holds a degree in Business Administration from CUNEF 

with a major in Finance. 

Mrs. Delia Izquierdo 

Mrs. Delia Izquierdo is Real Estate Managing Director of GPF Partners since 2020. Mrs. Izquierdo 

has more than 24 years’ experience in the Real Estate sector. From 2011 till 2020, she was 

Transaction Manager and Head of Clients at CBRE Global Investors, the largest unlisted manager 

of real estate assets in Continental Europe. Before she was Portfolio Manager at ING Real Estate 

Investment Management (2001-2011). She started her career in 1996 in Arthur Andersen where 

she was Senior consultant of the strategic consultancy business line. Currently she holds board 

seats in companies as Omo Retail Invest 2020 and participates in investment committees as the 

one of Inbest GPF Multi Asset Class Prime Socimi. Mrs. Izquierdo holds a double degree in 

Business Administration from the International School of Economics Rotterdam (The 

Netherlands) and European Business Programme (Madrid). 

The Company’s business address at Paseo de la Castellana 91, 8th floor, 28046 Madrid, Spain, 

serves as the c/o address for the Board Members in relation to their directorship of the 

Company and its management 
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4.3 Composition of the Board of Directors 

Member Position 

Mr. Fernando Olaso Chairman and Director 

Mr. Ignacio Antoñanzas Director 

Mr. Miguel Zurita Director 

Mr. Carlos Esteban Director 

Mr. Javier Basagoiti Director 

Mr. Christian Harisch Director 

Mr. Guillermo Castellanos Director 

Mrs. Delia Izquierdo Director 

Mr. Juan Gómez-Acebo Secretary non-Director 

Mr. Ángel Vizcaíno  Deputy Secretary non-Director 

 

There are no potential conflicts of interests and restrictions applicable to the Issuer. To the date of 

this document there were no transactions with persons discharging managerial responsibilities in 

the Issuer, board members, affiliates to such persons, major owners or another company within the 

same group as the applicant. 

 
 
 

5 Risk factors 

 

  Description  Impact Risk management 

1. Market Risk       

Macroeconomic 

environment 

Activity linked to the evolution of the wellness 

and health industries and the economic 

environment  

Low Healthcare industry less resilient to economic 

downturns 

Real Estate Market Rent and Asset value influenced by the 

market, geopolitical situation, etcetera 

Low Due to its experience, the Manager will be 

capable to manage the different threats 

Inflation Higher inflation could impact on construction 

and operational costs and revenues 

Low - Triple net Lease with rent linked to CPI 

- Fixed price construction contract  

Competitive industry  Other specialized operators could offer their 

services in the market of the Asset 

Low Leading operator with longstanding 

experience 

2. Operating Risk       

Risk related to 

concentration of lessee 

Financial instability if the tenant fails to pay 

the rent or vacates the Asset 

Low Penalties agreed on the Lease Agreement to 

cover rent and operational expenses until 

expiration 

Risk related to the 

management 

Company managed externally, depending on 

the Manager to execute the strategy 

Low Company relies on the expertise of the 

Manager, which is also a shareholder, with 

interests aligned 

Conflict of interest with 

the board members 

Members of the Board of Directors could be 

members of other companies with real estate 

investments 

Low Companies with different activity than 

Wellness Resorts SOCIMI 

Level of indebtedness Difficulties to repay or refinance existing third-

party debt 

Low Repayment of the debt once the Asset is 

operating  
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Geographical 

concentration 

Investment activity concentrated in Malaga Moderate Consolidated touristic location with limited 

competition and becoming a well-known 

wellness destination 

3. Asset Risk       

Business plan performed 

by third parties 

Company depends on the development 

manager and on the Manager for its business 

plan implementation 

Low Company empowered to terminate the 

development manager agreement and the 

Service Agreement 

Asset valuation subject 

to exogenous factors  

Valuations can vary due to changes in the 

operations of the Asset and of the market 

environment 

Low Company relies on the expertise of the 

Manager, which is also a shareholder, with 

interests aligned 

Breach of the Lease 

Agreement 

Default by the lessee of its obligations to pay 

the rent 

Low 25 years lease terms with high penalties 

agreed in case of failure to pay the rent 

Property damage Asset is exposed to damages from possible 

fires, accidents or other natural disasters 

Low Insurances in place during construction and 

operating phases  

Licenses and energy 

performance certificates 

for the Asset 

Licenses required to develop and operate the 

Asset 

Low Construction licenses obtained prior 

acquisition of the Plot and operating licenses 

to be obtained by the operator 

4. Financial Risk       

Debt structure Loan Agreement in place to finance the 

acquisition and development the asset 

Low - Loan signed prior acquisition of the Plot at a 

fixed interest rate 

- Refinancing to take place once the Asset is 

operating  

Execution of the 

business plan subject to 

external factors 

Board of Directors prepared the financial cash 

flows projections for 2024 and 2025 

Low Cash flows estimations based on contracts 

entered by the Company 

5. Regulatory Risk       

Regulatory changes Activity subject to legal and regulatory 

provisions   

Low Procedures in place to dully verify the 

obtention of the said licenses in order to 

operate 

Obtention of licenses to 

develop and operate the 

Asset 

Relevant municipal licenses to be obtained for 

the execution of the Project and for its 

operations 

Low Construction licenses obtained prior 

acquisition of the Plot and operating licenses 

to be obtained by the operator 

Loss of special tax 

regime 

Company could be taxed under the general 

corporation tax regime 

Low Company relies on the experience of the 

Manager, to duly comply with the 

requirements  

Lack of liquidity for 

dividend distribution 

Profits may be generated but not have 

sufficient cash to meet the dividend 

distribution requirements under the REIT 

regime 

Low The Company could pay dividends in kind or 

could request additional financing 

Judicial or extrajudicial 

claims 

Company could be affected by judicial or 

extrajudicial claims 

Low Company relies on the experience of the 

Manager to avoid any judicial or extrajudicial 

claims 

Insufficient insurance 

coverage for risk claims 

Company exposed to liability claims for 

contract breaches and Asset exposed to 

generic damage risks 

Low Insurance policies in place during construction 

and operating phases 

Risk from review by the 

tax authorities 

Taxes cannot be considered definitively 

settled until the returns have been inspected 

by the tax authorities  

Low Company relies on the experience of the 

Manager to avoid any risk derived from the 

potential review by the tax authorities 

6. Risks related to the 

Company shares 

      

Lack of liquidity of the 

shares 

The Company's shares have never been 

traded on any multilateral market 

Low   

Share price subject to 

unexpected variations 

Stock markets highly volatile due to the 

current economic situation 

Low   

Limited free float Lack of compliance with special tax regime 

requirements may imply that the Company 

would be taxed under the general corporation 

tax regime 

Low   
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The Company believes that the risks described below represent the main or material risks 

inherent in investing in its shares. Most of these factors are contingencies that may or may not 

occur and the Company is not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such 

contingency occurring. 

In this sense, the risks described below are not the only risks that the Company may face. There 

are other risks which, because they are more obvious to the general public, have not been 

discussed in this section. 

The Company does not guarantee the completeness of the risk factors described below. The 

risks and uncertainties described in this Information Document may not be the only risks that 

the Company may face and there may be additional risks and uncertainties currently unknown 

or considered not to be material, that alone or in conjunction with others (whether identified in 

this Information Document or not) could potentially have a material adverse effect on the 

business activity, financial or economic position, and/or Wellness’s operating results. 

5.1 Market risks 

Macroeconomic environment 

The Company’s activity and forecasts are linked to the evolution of the wellness market and the 

health industry. The supply and demand are generally impacted by the economic environment 

and any negative shift in the main macro-economic indicators could damage the Company’s 

activity level and outlook.  

However, the healthcare services industry has shown a significant resilience to economic 

downturns as the demand fundamentals are largely uncorrelated to the economic environment.  

Capital markets will continue to be affected by interest rates. The ECB started in September to 

cut interest rates and markets are expecting an acceleration in the pace of cuts. The latest 

inflation data have been encouraging which, along with the modest activity indicators, have 

pushed the European Central Bank to cut additional basic points 

Source: https://www.ecb.europa.eu/stats/ecb_surveys/survey_of_professional_forecasters/html/table_hist_hicp.en.html 

The increase in tensions in the Middle East poses upward risks for inflation via higher oil prices 

but the uncertainty is high. Concerns over a wider war in the Middle East could impact oil prices.  

Additionally, the conflict in Ukraine, which still ongoing as of the date of this Information 

Document, may affect capital markets. It is not possible to foresee the end of the conflict, but 

inflation, economic growth and price of electricity and fuel could continue to be affected, which 

ultimately have a material adverse effect on the Company business, results, prospects and/or 

financial, economic or equity position. 

Real estate market 
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Real estate activity is subject to cycles that depend on the economic and financial environment. 

The rent obtained as well as the value of Asset are influenced by, among other factors, the supply 

and demand for real estate, interest rates, inflation, economic growth, changes in legislation, 

geopolitical situation, political measures taken and demographic and social factors, among other 

factors. Certain variations in these factors could have a material adverse impact on the 

Company's business, results and financial condition. 

Lastly, it has to be considered that real estate investments are characterized as being more 

illiquid than investments in movable property. Therefore, in the event that the Company wants 

to divest the Asset, its ability to sell may be limited in the short term. 

Inflation 

Inflation can significantly impact the Project by the increase of construction and operational 

costs, which may lead to budget overruns. Rising prices for materials can strain financial 

resources, while the need to adjust pricing strategies may deter potential guests who are more 

price-sensitive in an inflationary environment. Additionally, inflation can alter consumer 

spending habits, shifting demand towards value-driven experiences and affecting occupancy 

rates. At constant interest rates, inflation risk is low for the Company since the rent is subject to 

indexation to the general price index (CPI) on an annual basis and the lease signed with 

Lanserhof is triple net, not affecting the Company’s profitability.  

Competitive industry  

The activity in which the Company operates is part of a competitive industry in which other 

specialized companies operate, mobilizing significant human, material, technical and financial 

resources. 

Experience, material, technical and financial resources, as well as local knowledge of each 

market, are key factors for the successful performance of the activity in this sector. 

It is possible that the competitors of the Company could have greater resources or more 

experience or better knowledge of the market in which the Company operates and could reduce 

its business opportunities. 

High competition in the sector could lead to an oversupply or to a decrease in prices. 

Finally, competition in the wellness sector could make that the Company’s competitors could 

adopt similar leasing, property development and acquisition business models to the Company’s. 

This could reduce the Company’s competitive advantages and significantly harm the future 

development of the Company’s business, results and financial condition. 

To mitigate this risk, the Company relies on the expertise provided by the Manager and by the 

operator. AltamarCAM Partners is a leading alternative investment manager in Europe with over 

€ 19 billion in assets under management. Altamar RE’s management team has extensive 

experience in direct investment and asset management and manages similar listed vehicles 
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(ELIX Rental Housing SOCIMI II, S.A.). Lanserhof is a leading operator of health resorts with a 

longstanding experience in health and hospitality management.  

5.2 Operating risks 

Risk related to concentration of lessee 

The Asset will be leased to a single tenant and the Company faces the risk if the lessee stops 

paying the rent or breaks the lease before it expires. This can result in an unexpected vacancy 

of the Asset, during which the Asset may remain unoccupied while the Company continues to 

bear costs such as mortgage payments, property taxes, utilities and maintenance expenses.  

To mitigate this risk, the Lease Agreement signed with Lanserhof states that if the lessee 

breaches the contract, Lanserhorf will have to compensate the Company economically.  

Risk related to the management of the Company  

The Company’s business is managed externally and therefore, depends on the experience, skill 

and judgement of the Manager. The Company has signed a Service Agreement as described in 

section 2.1 of this Information Document, which will be in place during the duration of the Project 

and will terminate once the Asset is sold.   

As a result, the Company’s affairs and its business will depend on the actions of the Manager 

and, more specifically, its experience, skills and judgement when managing the Asset. Its results 

will also depend on the Manager’s ability to execute its investment strategy in order to create a 

best-in-class asset able to generate attractive returns; and to suitably manage the sale of the 

Asset. 

In addition, any error, total or partial concerning the management of the Asset by the Manager 

(or any other manager that may replace it in the future) may have a significant negative impact 

on the Company’s business, profits or financial and equity situation. 

Accordingly, any interruption in the services or operations of the Manager (whether due to the 

termination of the Service Agreement or otherwise) or of any other manager that will replace 

the existing Manager, could cause a significant disruption to the operations of the Company 

until a suitable replacement, if any, is found. Such a disruption could have a material adverse 

effect on the Company's business, results or financial condition. 

To mitigate this risk, the Company relies on the expertise provided by the Manager (explained 

above in the previous point “Competitive industry”). 

In addition, the Manager is also shareholder of the Company, so its interests are aligned with 

those of other shareholders. 

Conflict of interest with the board members 

Some of the members of the Board of Directors of the Company may be members of the Board 
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of Directors of other companies that have a purpose of real estate investments, which could 

lead to a conflict-of-interest situation. These companies do not refer to the specific activity 

developed by Wellness Resorts SOCIMI and do not represent an effective competition with the 

Company. 

The directors are obliged to avoid situations of conflict and to inform the Board of Directors of 

their participation or involvement in the management of companies with similar or 

complementary purposes. The Board of Directors does not consider that the relationships 

reported by the board members involve situations of specific risk to date, regardless of the 

annual evaluation of this situation. 

Level of indebtedness 

At the date of publication of this Information Document, the Company, through its Sub-SOCIMI, 

has incurred in a third-party debt financing to finance the acquisition of the Plot and the 

development of the Asset. The Loan Agreement will cover the acquisition costs of the Plot and 

the construction costs of the Project and will be in place for a period of FOURTY-TWO (42) 

months, starting from the start of the construction.  

However, in certain situations, the Company or its Sub-SOCIMI, could have difficulties to repay 

or refinance the existing debt, which could result in the impossibility of distributing dividends 

(losing the special tax regime) or having to dispose the Asset, under unfavorable conditions, 

which would negatively affect the Company's results and equity situation and the valuation of 

the shares.  

To mitigate this risk, the Loan Agreement will be repaid or refinanced once the Asset is 

operating, one year and a half after its delivery to the operator and with practical stabilization, 

making the Asset more attractive for the new potential lenders.  

Geographical concentration 

The Company concentrates its investment activity in Malaga. Therefore, in the event of specific 

urban development modifications in this region or due to particular economic conditions in this 

region, the financial situation, results or valuation of the Company could be negatively affected. 

5.3 Asset risks 

Asset development activity and business plan execution is performed by third parties 

The development of the Asset, through its Sub-SOCIMI, is carried out by the development 

manager, which is empowered to contract or delegate to third parties the execution of the 

development of the Asset, prior approval of the Company, while the performance of the business 

plan, through its Sub-SOCIMI, is carried out by the Manager. 

The Company depends on the development manager and on the Manager for the execution of 

the strategy, for which reason the Company is exposed to various risks, including, without 

limitation: 
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a) failure to comply with the business plan approved by the Company, both in time and 

cost, for the development and management of the Asset through its Sub-SOCIMI, and 

such failure may be due to: the failure of one of the third parties to fulfill with its 

contractual obligations; the insolvency of one of the third parties; the inability of one of 

the third parties to retain key members of its staff; cost variances in relation to the 

services provided by one of the third parties; delays in the availability of the Asset for 

occupancy; 

b) inability to obtain governmental or regulatory permits or to obtain them within the time 

frame originally anticipated; 

c) disputes between the Company and the development manager and the Manager; and 

d) civil liability of the Company arising under special legislation, including but not limited to 

the building code, for the actions of the third-parties contractor or the tenant of the Asset.  

If the development manager or the Manager were to fail to successfully perform the services for 

which they have been engaged, whether due to their own fault or negligence, this could have a 

material adverse effect on the business, results, financial and asset position of the Company. 

Without prejudice to the aforementioned in this section, pursuant to the development manager 

agreement and the Service Agreement, the development manager and the Manager undertook 

to hold harmless and exonerate the Company from any obligation, liability or penalty for the acts 

of the development manager and the Manager in connection with the actions of the 

development and the management of the Asset assumed by the development manager and the 

Manager, including its acquisition, financing, valuation, development, leasing, control, 

verification, insurance and marketing. In addition, the Company is empowered, in the event of a 

serious breach of the business plan, to require the substitution of one of the third-parties at no 

cost to the Company as well as the Company's ability to terminate the development 

management agreement and the Service Agreement. 

Asset valuation is subject to exogenous factors and may decrease over time 

The valuation of Asset will be made based on certain assumptions, among others, the 

development of the Asset, the future occupancy, the estimated profitability, etcetera. If said 

subjective elements were to evolve negatively, the valuation of the Company's Asset would be 

lower and could consequently affect the Company’s financial situation, profit or valuation. 

The Company, through an independent expert, will perform annual valuations of the Asset. In 

order to carry out the valuation of the Asset, this independent expert will take into account 

certain information and estimates, and therefore any variation in these estimates, whether as a 

result of the passage of time, changes in the operation of the Asset, changes in market 

circumstances or any other factor, will influence the result of these valuations. 

On the other hand, the market value of the Asset could suffer decreases due to causes beyond 

the Company's control, such as, for example, the variation in the expected profitability due to an 
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increase in interest rates or regulatory changes, which could have an impact on the value of the 

Asset and, therefore, on the Company itself. 

Breach of the Lease Agreement 

In the event of default by the lessee of its obligations to pay the rent, the recovery of the Asset 

and its availability to re-rent could be delayed until the court-ordered eviction of the non-

compliant lessee. All this could negatively affect the business, the results and the financial 

position of the Company. 

Property damage 

The Asset is exposed to damages from possible fires, floods, accidents, or other natural disasters. 

If any of this damage is not insured or represents an amount greater than the coverage taken 

out, the Company will have to cover these damages as well as the loss related to the investment 

made and the income expected, with the consequent impact on the Company’s financial 

situation, profit and valuation. 

During the development of the Asset, the Sub-SOCIMI will have in place the following insurances, 

reducing the property damage risk: (i) ALOP from the construction company; (ii) General liability 

insurance from the construction company; (iii) General liability insurance from the development 

manager and (iv) decennial insurance. 

During the operating phase of the Asset, the Company and/or the Sub-SOCIMI plans to have a 

general liability insurance covering potential property damages. Additionally, the Lease 

Agreement settles that the lessee should, during the term of the lease, keep sufficient insurance, 

through insurance companies of renowned solvency, for the risks derived from its own activity 

in the Asset, the FF&E, the medical equipment, its material and its merchandise, including the 

contents inside the Asset. The insurance policies will cover, among other aspects, the risk of fire 

and theft of the contents of the Asset. 

Licenses and energy performance certificates for the Asset 

To hold and operate the Asset, the Company (and/or the Sub-SOCIMI as direct owner of the 

Asset) will be required to obtain certain licenses, certificates, permits or authorizations to, among 

other things, develop and operate the Asset. Failure to obtain the related licenses could give rise 

to sanctions and/or, in very extreme cases, an order issued by the corresponding public 

authorities to cease the activity carried out in the Asset, which could have a negative effect on 

the Company’s transactions, financial position, forecasts, results and valuation. 

Acquisition was subject to the obtention of the relevant licenses to start construction works, 

which were obtained prior the signing of the SPA. 

The Lease Agreement stipulates that the lessee is obliged to obtain its own operating licenses 

and that the Company and/or the Sub-SOCIMI shall collaborate with and assist the lessee in the 

process to obtain them and provide any documents which may be required for such purposes. 
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5.4 Financial risks 

Debt structure 

The Company operates in a sector that requires a significant level of investment. The Sub-SOCIMI 

has signed a Loan Agreement with a third-party in order to finance the acquisition of the Plot 

and the development of the Asset. 

In the event that the Company and/or the Sub-SOCIMI does not have access to financing or does 

not obtain financing on suitable terms at the refinancing of the Loan Agreement, the Company’s 

financial position could be affected. Additionally, high level of debt or increases in interest rates 

at refinancing of the existing loan could lead to higher financing costs for the Company.  

Execution of the business plan is subject to external factors 

The Board of Directors has prepared the cash flows, (see section 7.1) projections for the current 

year and the year 2025 based on estimates. The financial forecasts have not been audited or 

reviewed by an independent auditor and their compliance is subject to external factors beyond 

the Company's control. 

Potential deviations from the Company's estimates may result in the emergence of financing 

needs not foreseen by the Company, which could ultimately have a negative impact on its results 

or equity position. 

5.5 Regulatory risks 

Regulatory changes 

The Company’s activity is subject to legal and regulatory provisions of a technical, tax and 

commercial nature, as well as planning, safety, technical and user protection requirements, 

among others. The local, autonomic, and national administrations may impose sanctions for 

non-compliance with these standards and requirements. 

The sanctions may include, among other measures, restrictions that may limit the performance 

of certain operations of the Company. In addition, if the non-compliance is significant, the fines 

or sanctions may have a negative impact on the Company’s profits and financial situation. The 

sanctions to which the wellness sector is exposed to are related to health regulation. The 

Company has procedures in place to dully verify the obtention of the said licenses in order to 

operate. 

A significant change to these legal and regulatory provisions or a change affecting the way in 

which these legal and regulatory provisions are applied, interpreted or met, may force the 

Company to change its plans, projections or even properties and, therefore, assume additional 

costs, which could negatively impact the Company’s financial situation, profit or valuation. 

In order to start with the operations, the Company will be required to have the following licenses 

which will be obtained either by the construction company or by Lanserhof.  
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Obtention of licenses to develop and operate the Asset 

In order to develop and operate the Asset, the Company and/or the Sub-SOCIMI needs to obtain 

the relevant municipal licenses for the execution of the Project and for the operations of the 

Asset. Since obtaining such licenses is usually subject to complex administrative procedures, the 

Company and/or the Sub-SOCIMI could be prevented from using the Asset within the timeframe 

initially foreseen, which could have an adverse impact on the Company's activities, results and 

financial position. Failure or delay to obtain administrative permits and authorizations, or to 

comply with certain administrative or urban planning requirements or requirements relating to 

safety and technical conditions, habitability, or the use and destination of the Asset, could 

adversely affect the Company's business. 

Loss of special tax regime 

On July 27th 2023, the Company requested the application of the special tax regime for Spanish 

REITS. The application of said special tax regime is subject to compliance of certain requirements 

set out in Law 11/2009 as amended by Law 16/2012 (hereinafter, the “REITS Law”). Lack of 

compliance with any of said requirements may imply that the Company would be taxed under 

the general corporation tax regime. The loss of said Spanish REIT special tax regime could 

negatively affect the Company’s financial situation, operating results, cash flows or valuation. 

The Company may cease to benefit from the special tax regime established in the REITS Law, 

being taxed under the general IS regime, in the same tax period in which any of the following 

circumstances arise: 

a) Exclusion from trading in regulated markets or in a multilateral trading system; 

b) Substantial non-compliance with the reporting obligations referred to in article 11 of the 

REITS Law, unless the report of the immediately following fiscal year states a remedy for 

the non-compliance; 

c) Failure to agree on the distribution or total or partial payment of dividends under the 

terms and within the periods referred to in article 6 of the REITS Law. In this case, the 

taxation under the general regime will take place in the tax period corresponding to the 

fiscal year from whose profits such dividends would have come; 

d) The breach of any other of the requirements of the REITS Law for the Company to be able 

to apply the special tax regime, unless the cause of the breach is remedied within the 

immediately following fiscal year. 

The loss of the tax regime and the consequent taxation under the general IS regime in the year 

in which such loss occurs, would determine that the Company would be obliged to pay, if 

applicable, the difference between the tax liability resulting from applying the general regime 

and the tax liability resulting from applying the special tax regime in tax periods prior to the 

breach, without prejudice to the late payment interest, surcharges and penalties, if any, that may 

be applicable. 
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Lack of liquidity for dividend distribution 

All dividends and other distributions payable by the Company will depend on the existence of 

profits available for distribution and sufficient cash. In addition, there is a risk that the Company 

may generate profits but not have sufficient cash to meet, in cash, the dividend distribution 

requirements under the REIT regime. 

If the Company does not have sufficient cash, the Company could be forced to pay dividends in 

kind or to implement some system of reinvestment of dividends in new shares. Alternatively, the 

Company could request additional financing, which would increase its financing costs, reduce its 

ability to request financing to undertake new investments and could have a material adverse 

effect on the Company's business, financial conditions, results of operations and prospects.  

The Company's bylaws contain indemnification obligations in favor of the Company's 

shareholders in order to prevent the potential accrual of the NINETEEN PERCENT (19%) special 

tax provided for in the REITS Law from having a negative impact on the Company's results. This 

compensation mechanism could discourage the entry of shareholders. In accordance with the 

Company's bylaws, the amount of the indemnity will be equivalent to the corporate income tax 

expense derived by the Company from the payment of the dividend that serves as the basis for 

the calculation of the special tax, increased by the amount that, after deducting the corporate 

income tax levied on the total amount of the indemnity, manages to offset the expense derived 

from the special tax and the corresponding indemnity. 

Shareholders would be obliged to assume the tax costs associated with the receipt of the 

dividend and, if applicable, to assume the payment of the indemnity provided for in the bylaws 

(special tax), even if they had not received any liquid amount from the Company. Likewise, the 

payment of dividends in kind (or the implementation of equivalent systems such as the 

reinvestment of the right to the dividend in new shares) could result in the dilution of the 

shareholding of those shareholders who receive the dividend in cash. 

Judicial or extrajudicial claims 

The Company could be affected by judicial or extrajudicial claims arising from the activity carried 

out by the Company. In the event of a resolution of such claims negative to the interests of the 

Company, this could affect its financial position, results, cash flows and/or valuation of the 

Company. 

Insufficient insurance coverage for risk claims 

The Company is exposed to substantial liability claims for breaches of contract, including 

breaches due to errors or omissions by the Company itself or its professionals in the 

performance of their activities. 

Likewise, the Asset of the Company will be exposed to the generic risk of damage that may be 

caused by fire, flood or other causes, and the Company may incur liability to third parties as a 

result of damage to the Asset owned by the Company. 
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The insurances that area contracted and that will be contracted to cover all these risks, although 

it is understood that they meet the standards required in accordance with the activity carried 

out, may not adequately protect the Company from the consequences and liabilities derived 

from the above circumstances, including losses that may result from the interruption of the 

business. If the Company or the Sub-SOCIMI were to be subject to substantial claims, its 

reputation and ability to provide services could be adversely affected. In addition, possible future 

damages caused that are not covered by insurance contracted by the Company and/or by the 

Sub-SOCIMI, that exceed insured amounts, that have substantial deductibles, or that are not 

moderated by contractual liability limitations, could adversely affect the Company's results of 

operations and financial condition. 

Risk derived from the potential review by the tax authorities 

Under current legislation, taxes cannot be considered definitively settled until the returns have 

been inspected by the tax authorities or a four-year statute of limitations period has elapsed. As 

of the date of this Information Document, the Company has open for inspection all the taxes 

applicable to it corresponding to the last fiscal years. 

5.6 Risks related to the Company shares 

Lack of liquidity of the shares 

The Company's shares have never been traded on any multilateral market and, therefore, there 

is no guarantee as to the volume of trading that will be achieved by the shares or their level of 

liquidity. Potential investors should note that the value of an investment in the Company may 

increase or decrease. 

Share price may be subject to unexpected variations due to external factors 

At the time of preparation of this Information Document, the stock markets are highly volatile 

due to the current economic situation, which could have a negative impact on the price of the 

Company's shares. Factors such as fluctuations in the Company's results, changes in analysts' 

recommendations and in the situation of the Spanish or international financial markets, as well 

as sales transactions by the Company's main shareholders, could have a negative impact on the 

price of the Company's shares. Potential investors should bear in mind that the value of the 

investment in the Company may increase or decrease and that the market price of the shares 

may not reflect the intrinsic value of the Company. 

Limited free float 

The Company's shares have never been traded on a multilateral trading system and there can 

be no assurance as to the volume of trading in the shares or their level of liquidity. Potential 

investors should be aware that it may be difficult to find liquidity for their investment in the 

Company and that the value of their investment may increase or decrease. 
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6 Information concerning the operation 

6.1 Registration with Euronext Access 

ISIN: ES0105740007 

Euronext Ticker: MLWRS 

Number of shares to be listed: FIVE MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED EIGHTEEN THOUSAND 

TWO HUNDRED AND EIGHT (5,718,208) ordinary shares and only listed in Euronext Access 

Paris Exchange 

Reference price per share: TWO EUROS AND TWENTY CENTS (€ 2.20) 

Nominal price per share: ONE EURO (€ 1) 

Market capitalization: TWELVE MILLION FIVE HUNDRED EIGHTY THOUSAND AND FIFTY-

SEVEN EUROS AND SIXTY CENTS (€ 12.580.057,60). 

Initial listing and trading date: December 30th, 2024 

Listing Sponsor: Renta 4 Corporate, S.A. 

Financial service: Renta 4 Banco, S.A. 

6.2 Objectives of the listing process 

This transaction is carried out within the framework of a procedure for admission to trading on 

the Euronext Access Market operated by Euronext Paris S.A., through a technical admission. The 

proposed transaction does not require a visa from the Autorité des Marchés Financiers (AMF). 

 

Additionally, the Company has to be listed in a European market to keep the special tax regime 

for Spanish REITs. 

6.3 Company’s share capital and main characteristics of the shares 

Article 7.- “Share Capital 

The share capital is set at FIVE MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED AND EIGHTEEN THOUSAND TWO 

HUNDRED AND EIGHT EUROS (5,718,208 Euros), being fully subscribed and paid up, divided into 

FIVE MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED AND EIGHTEEN THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED AND EIGHT 

(5,718,208) registered shares, each with a nominal value of ONE EURO (1 Euro). 

All shares are of the same class and series and grant the same political and economic rights set 

forth by the laws in effect. 

Article 8.- Shares 

The shares shall be represented by account entries and are constituted as such in virtue of 

registration in the corresponding accounting record. They shall be governed by Law 6/2023, of 

17 March, on Securities Markets and Investment Services and any other provisions 

supplementing or, where appropriate, replacing them. 

The Company's book-entry register is kept by Sociedad de Gestión de los Sistemas de Registro, 
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Compensación y Liquidación de Valores, S.A. (Iberclear) and its participating entities.” 

6.4 Evolution of the share capital, increases and reductions 

The Company was incorporated on April 20th, 2023, with a share capital of SIXTY THOUSAND 

EUROS (€ 60,000), represented by SIXTY THOUSAND (60,000) shares with a par value of ONE 

EURO (€ 1) each, numbered sequentially from ONE (1) to SIXTY THOUSAND (60,000). The total 

share capital was at the moment SIXTY THOUSAND EUROS (€ 60,000). 

On July 18th, 2023, the shares were acquired by ALTAMAR RE. On August 4th, 2023, Altamar RE 

decided to increase, expressly waiving its pre-emptive subscription right, by means of monetary 

contributions, the share capital by ONE MILLION SIX HUNDRED TWELVE THOUSAND AND FIVE 

HUNDRED EUROS (€ 1,612,500), by issuing and placing into circulation ONE MILLION SIX 

HUNDRED TWELVE THOUSAND AND FIVE HUNDRED (1,612,500) new shares, with a par value of 

ONE EURO (€ 1) each, fully disbursed, numbered consecutively from SIXTY-THOUSAND AND ONE 

(60,001) to ONE MILLION SIX HUNDRED SEVENTY-TWO THOUSAND AND FIVE HUNDRED 

(1,672,500), both inclusive and with the same rights as those already in existence. These new 

shares were issued with a total share premium of FIVE HUNDRED THIRTY-SEVEN THOUSAND 

AND FIVE HUNDRED EUROS (€ 537,500), being the total capital increase plus share premium at 

the moment of TWO MILLION ONE HUNDRED AND FIFTY THOUSAND EUROS (€ 2,150,000). 

On February 16th, 2024, the Manager requested to the Company's shareholders to pay up capital 

in the amount of NINE HUNDRED THOUSAND AND SIX EUROS (€ 900,006), which were 

structured as a shareholder’s contribution. 

On July 31st, 2024, the Company conducted an additional capital increase that was fully 

subscribed for FORTY-FIVE THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED AND SIX EUROS (€ 45,706). The shares 

were issued with a total share premium of FIFTEEN THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED AND THIRTY-

FOUR EUROS AND FORTY-FOUR CENTS (€ 15,234.44). The capital increase plus share premium 

amounted to SIXTY THOUSAND NINE HUNDRED AND FOURTY EUROS AND FOURTY-FOUR CENTS 

(€ 60,940.44). Additionally, the shareholders disbursed capital in the amount of TWENTY-FIVE 

THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED AND TEN EUROS AND TWELVE CENTS (€ 25,510.12), which were 

structured as shareholders contribution. The total disbursed capital, including capital, share 

premium and shareholders contribution amounted to EIGHTY-SIX THOUSAND FOUR HUNDRED 

AND FIFTY EUROS AND FIFTY-SEVEN CENTS (€ 86,450.57).  

On September 12th, 2024, the Company conducted an additional capital increase that was fully 

subscribed as of FOUR MILLION AND TWO EUROS (€ 4,000,002). The shares were issued with a 

total share premium of FOUR MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED NINETY-ONE THOUSAND SEVEN 

HUNDRED AND NINETY-ONE EUROS (€4,791,792). The capital increase plus share premium 

amounted to EIGHT MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED NINETY-ONE THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED AND 

NINETY-FOUR EUROS (€ 8,791,794). Additionally, the shareholders disbursed capital in the 

amount of FIVE HUNDRED EIGHT THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED AND SIX EUROS (€ 508,206),, 

which were structured as shareholders contribution. The total disbursed capital including 

capital, share premium and shareholders contribution amounted to NINE MILLION AND THREE 
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HUNDRED THOUSAND EUROS (€ 9,300,000).  

Finally, the total share capital at the date of this Information Documents is FIVE MILLION 

SEVENTY HUNDRED EIGHTEEN THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED AND EIGTH EUROS (€ 5,718 ,208) 

and an accumulated share premium of FIVE MILLION THREE HUNDRED FORTY-FOUR 

THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED TWENTY-SIX EUROS AND TWENTY-ONE CENTS (€ 5,344,526.21). 

Additionally, there is an accumulated shareholders contribution of ONE MILLION FOUR 

HUNDRED THIRTY-THREE THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED TWENTY-TWO EUROS AND THIRTY-SIX 

CENTS (€ 1,433,722.36).  

Conditions for the transfer of shares 

The shares belong to a single class and series. All shares are fully subscribed and paid-up and 

grant their holders the same rights. 

The shares are numbered from ONE (1) to FIVE MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED EIGHTEEN THOUSAND 

TWO HUNDRED AND EIGHT (5,718,208) inclusive. 

The bylaws of the Company establish the following regarding the transfer of shares: 

“Article 11.- Transfer of Shares 

The shares and the economic rights deriving from them, including preferential subscription, 

may be freely transferred through any means allowed by Law.  

The transfer of the Company's shares shall take place in accordance with the provisions of 

the Capital Companies Act and other applicable laws and regulations. Any share transfer that 

does not comply with these Articles of Association and, in lack thereof, the provisions of the 

Spanish Corporate Enterprises Act will not be recognized by the Company and will not be 

enforceable against it.  

Article 12.- Share co-ownership 

The shares are indivisible. Whenever a share belongs pro-indiviso to several persons, they 

shall appoint a single person to exercise the rights inherent to shareholder status; and they 

shall be jointly and severally liable to the company for any obligations arising from this status. 

This rule shall also apply to other cases of joint ownership of rights to shares. 

Article 13.- Usufruct, pledge and embargo of shares 

The co-ownership system, usufruct, pledging and embargo of Company shares shall be 

determined by applicable corporate regulations.  

 

In general, in the event of a pledge on shares representing the share capital, the owner of 

the shares shall be entitled to exercise the rights of the shareholder.  

 

However, as soon as the pledgor and the Company are notified by notary of the existence of 

a breach of the secured obligation, provided that the judicial enforcement of the pledge has 



 

 
 

Wellness Resorts SOCIMI – 24 December 2024      44 

been admitted for processing or, in the case of notarial enforcement, the summons of the 

debtor in accordance with Article 1,872 of the Civil Code is reliably accredited, the pledgee's 

economic and political rights shall correspond to the pledgee's creditors.” 

Additionally, the Company and all its current shareholders have entered into a shareholders’ 

agreement which regulates, among other, the conditions for the transfer of shares of the 

Company by said shareholders. There are strong limitations to the transfer of shares that are 

applicable to the signatories of the shareholders’ agreement.  

 

7 Company valuation 

7.1 Company’s financial resources for at least twelve months after the first day of 

trading and for the next twelve months after the first day of trading 

 

 
(€) nov-24 dic-24 ene-25 feb-25 mar-25 abr-25 may-25 jun-25 jul-25 ago-25 sep-25 oct-25 nov-25 dic-25 

Building 
investment 

- (778) (457) (651) (1,164) (1,580) (1,144) (1,667) (1,420) (5,212) (1,893) (1,162) (1,612) (2,586) 

Investment Cash 
Flow 

- (778) (457) (651) (1,164) (1,580) (1,144) (1,667) (1,420) (5,212) (1,893) (1,162) (1,612) (2,586) 

               

Corporate costs (7) (383) (151) (23) (207) (23) (23) (209) (79) (23) (227) (23) (23) (223) 

Operating Cash 
Flow 

(7) (383) (151) (23) (207) (23) (23) (209) (79) (23) (227) (23) (23) (223) 

               

Debt balance - (3,150) - - - - 1,250 1,000 - 3,250 1,000 - 1,250 1,250 

Financing costs - (325) - - - - - - - - - - - - 

Financing Cash 
Flow 

- (3,475) - - - - 1,250 1,000 - 3,250 1,000 - 1,250 1,250 

               

VAT 3,089 213 26 341 (66) 142 25 (29) 27 (840) (110) (42) (58) 728 

VAT 3,089 213 26 341 (66) 142 25 (29) 27 (840) (110) (42) (58) 728 
               

Capital calls - 2,500 - - 2,000 - - 5,000 - - 3,300 - - 9,000 

Shareholders 
Cash Flow 

- 2,500 - - 2,000 - - 5,000 - - 3,300 - - 9,000 

               
Monthly Cash 
Flow 

3,083 (1,922) (581) (333) 563 (1,461) 109 4,096 (1,472) (2,825) 2,069 (1,227) (443) 8,169 

Opening balance 2,032 5,115 3,192 2,611 2,278 2,841 1,380 1,489 5,584 4,112 1,287 3,356 2,129 1,686 

Ending balance 5,115 3,192 2,611 2,278 2,841 1,380 1,489 5,584 4,112 1,287 3,356 2,129 1,686 9,854 

 

The Board of Directors declare that in their opinion, on the basis of the analysis performed by the 

financial and accounting teams of the Company and the Manager, confirm that the Company has 

sufficient resources to cover all the capital needs arising from its activity during the TWELVE (12) 

months following the Company's expected date of listing on the EURONEXT ACCESS market in Paris.  
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7.2 Asset valuation 

On July 24th, 2024, Savills Valoraciones y Tasaciones, S.A.U. (hereinafter, "Savills") with address 

in Paseo de la Castellana, 81 – 2nd floor, 28046 Madrid, which does not hold any personal or 

finance interest on the Company, issued a valuation report for the Company’s Asset with a 

valuation date of July 4th, 2024.  

In the valuation process, Savills examined the following items: (i) location and size of the Asset, 

(ii) macroeconomic analysis, (iii) market competition, (iv) CapEx budget, (v) floor plans of the 

Asset and (vi) all the associated documentation in respect of the above. The valuation has been 

prepared in accordance to the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors´(hereinafter, “RICS”) 

Valuation Professional Standards 2022 (the “RICS” Red Book), issued in November 2021 and 

effective from January 31st, 2022.  

In order to estimate the Market Value of the asset under valuation, Savills has estimated the 

highest and best use of the plot and the valuation method employed has been the Discounted 

Cash Flow (hereinafter, the “DFC”) methodology has been adopted by Savills. This method 

comprises analysing the potential development of the site and the disposal of the resulting units 

upon completion, discounting the necessary costs to take the project to fruition (construction, 

architecture, urban planning and disposal cost). This will result in a cash-flow that will be 

discounted to its net present value as at the date of valuation using the discount rate/target IRR 

(12%), which is indicative of the level of risk the developer is willing to accept and the returns 

they expect to obtain accordingly 

As a result of the explained valuation process, Savills determined that the Asset valuation 

amounts to SEVENTEEN MILLION AND EIGHT THOUSAND EUROS (€ 17,008,000). 

Savills has no employee nor any financial interest in the Company.  

 

7.3 Company’s valuation 

As of the date of this document disbursement of the shareholders amount TWELVE MILLION 

FOUR HUNDRED NINETY-SIX THOUSAND FOUR HUNDRED AND FIFTY-SIX EUROS AND FIFTY-

SEVEN CENTS (€ 12,496,456.57) which it breaks down as: FIVE MILLION SEVENTY HUNDRED 

EIGHTEEN THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED AND EIGHTY EUROS (€ 5,718,208) as share capital, FIVE 

MILLION THREE HUNDRED FORTY-FOUR THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED AND TWENTY-SIX EUROS 

(€ 5,344,526) as share premium and ONE MILLION FOUR HUNDRED THIRTY-THREE THOUSAND 

SEVEN HUNDRED TWENTY-TWO EUROS AND THIRTY-SIX CENTS (€ 1,433,722.36) as shareholders 

contribution. 

On September 12th, 2024, the Company conducted the last capital increase that was fully 

subscribed as of NINE MILLION AND THREE HUNDRED THOUSAND EUROS (€ 9,3000.000) issuing 

FOUR MILLION AND TWO (4,000,002) shares. The shares were issued with a total share premium 

of FOUR MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED NINETY-ONE THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED NINETY-TWO 
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EUROS (€4,791,792). The capital increase plus share premium amounted to EIGHT MILLION 

SEVEN HUNDRED NINETY-ONE THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED AND NINETY-FOUR EUROS (€ 

8,791,794). Additionally, the shareholders disbursed capital in the amount of FIVE HUNDRED 

EIGHT THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED AND SIX SIX EUROS (€ 508,206), which were structured as 

shareholders contribution. With the actual number of shares issued of FOUR MILLION AND TWO 

(4,000,002), the price per share settled was TWO EUROS AND TWENTY CENTS (€ 2.2) per share. 

Since this share subscription is relevant because it represents SEVENTY PERCENT (70%) of the 

current shareholding structure and took place in the SIX (6) months prior to the request for 

incorporation to Euronext, on September 12th, 2024, the Board of Directors of the Company 

agreed on December 18th , 2024, to take as the reference price for its incorporation to Euronext 

the price of TWO EUROS AND TWENTY CENTS (€ 2.20) per share. By virtue of the foregoing, as 

the total number of shares is FIVE MILLION SEVENTY HUNDRED EIGHTEEN THOUSAND TWO 

HUNDRED AND EIGHTY (5.718.208), the total value of shareholders' equity at the time of listing 

in Euronext Access Paris is TWELVE MILLION FIVE HUNDRED EIGHTY THOUSAND AND FIFTY-

SEVEN EUROS AND SIXTY CENTS (€ 12.580.057,60). 

 

 

8 Financial Information for the fiscal year ended December 31st, 2023 

The financial statements set out in this Information Document have been prepared in 

accordance with the accounting principles of the Spanish GAAP (General Accounting Plan), 

and the selected financial data included has been extracted from the audited financial 

statements for the financial year ended December 31st, 2023, contained in the annual 

audited financial report so they should be read in conjunction with the financial statements 

and notes included therein. 

The financial statements have been audited by PriceWaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L., 

during the period covered by the historical financial information, they have neither resigned, 

nor been removed nor been re-appointed. They are available on the Company’s website: 

www.wellnessresortsocimi.es 

The selected financial data of the financial statements included in this Information 

Document have been approved by the Board of Directors both in Spanish and English. In 

case of any discrepancies the Spanish version shall prevail. 

The financial statements as of December 31st, 2023, together with the auditors' report are 

attached as Appendix I. 

 

 

 

 

http://www.wellnessresortsocimi.es/
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8.1 Summary of balance sheet and income statement 

Summary of balance sheet 

Balance Sheet 
Dec 31st 

2023 

NON CURRENT ASSETS 1,720,240 

Real Estate Investment 1,720,240 

CURRENT ASSETS 415,576 

Trade and other receivables- 293,274 

Other credits with Public Administrations 293,274 

Financial investments short term 4,374 

    Other investment assets 4,374 

Cash and cash equivalents- 117,929 

Cash and banks 117,929 

Total Assets 2,135,817 
  

EQUITY  

Shareholders’ funds  

Share capital 1,672,500 

Share Premium 537,500 

Profit/(loss) previous years  

Profit/(loss) for the year (177,010) 

Total equity 2,039,989 
  

CURRENT LIABILITIES  

Trade and other payables- 102,827 

Total current liabilities 102,827 

Total Equity and Liabilities 2,135,817 

 

Asset 

Real Estate Investment  

The Project consists of the acquisition of a Plot in Casares, Malaga, for the development and 

operation of a wellness resort, which will be leased and operated by Lanserhof, a company of 

recognised prestige in the sector.  

In this regard, the addition to Asset in 2023 is related to the Deposit Agreement signed by the 

Company on July 27th, 2023 with the seller for an amount of ONE MILLION EUROS (€ 1,000,000). 

Potential acquisition of the Plot was subject to the fulfilment of a series of conditions precedent 

established in the Deposit Agreement: (i) obtain the necessary licences to commence 

construction works and (ii) sign a construction contract with a well-known construction company 

at a fixed price and not exceed a determined total project cost. In relation to the down payment, 

the Company had the right to waive the acquisition of the land and recover the deposit in full if 

the conditions precedent is not fulfilled. 
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Equity 

The Company was incorporated on April 20th, 2023 with a share capital of SIXTY THOUSAND 

EUROS (€ 60,000), represented by SIXTY THOUSAND (60,000) shares with a par value of ONE 

EURO (€ 1) each, numbered sequentially from ONE (1) to SIXTY THOUSAND (60,000). The total 

share capital was at the moment was SIXTY THOUSAND EUROS (€ 60,000).  

On August 4th, 2023, the Company issued and put into circulation ONE MILLION SIX HUNDRED 

TWELVE THOUSAND AND FIVE HUNDRED (1,612,500) new shares with a par value of ONE EURO 

(€ 1). The total share capital was at the moment was ONE MILLION SIXTY HUNDRED SEVENTY-

TWO THOUSAND AND FIVE HUNDRED EUROS (€ 1,672,500). 

On December 31st, 2023, the Company is unaware of any contingencies or ongoing disputes 

which might have a significant impact on the accompanying annual accounts. 

On December 31st, 2023, the breakdown of current balances with the Public Administrations is 

as follows: 

 Debtor 

balance 

Creditor 

balance 

   

VAT refundable 293.273,65 - 

Personal income tax withholdings payable -  11,36 

Total 293.273,65 11,36 
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Summary of income statement 

Profit and Loss Statement (€) 
Dec 31st 

2023 

CONTINUING OPERATIONS  

Revenue - 

Other operating income - 

Staff costs - 

Other operating expenses (177,010) 

External services (177,010) 

Taxes - 

Losses, impairment and change in trade provisions - 

Fixed asset depreciation - 

Other profit/(loss) - 

Operating profit/(loss) (177,010) 
  

Financial income - 

Financial expenses - 

Net financial income/(expense) - 

Profit/(loss) before tax (177,010) 

Income tax - 

Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations (177,010) 
  

Profit/(loss) for the year (177,010) 

The expenses recorded by the Company under ‘External services’ relate mainly to notary and 

registry fees in connection with the incorporation of the Company, as well as fees incurred in 

structuring the vehicle and the Project. 

During 2023, no salaries or other remuneration accrued to the directors, nor were any loans, 

advances or guarantees granted. The Company has entered no pension plan obligations in favor 

of the directors. In any event, all senior management functions have been handled by the 

directors. In 2023, none of the Company's directors or persons related to them as defined by 

the Spanish Companies Act reported to the Company’s governing bodies any situation of 

conflict, direct or indirect, with the Company’s interests. 

Events after the reporting period included in the annual account 

On February 16th, 2024, the Manager has requested the Company's shareholders to pay up 

capital in the amount of NINE HUNDRED THOUSAND AND SIX EUROS (€ 900,006), which has 

been structured as a shareholder contribution  

On July 31st, 2024, the Company conducted an additional capital call increase that was fully 

subscribed for FORTY-FIVE THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED AND SIX EUROS (€ 45,706), the shares 

were issued with a total share premium of FIFTEEN THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED AND THIRTY-

FOUR EUROS AND FORTY-FOUR CENTS (€ 15,234.44). The consideration for the capital increase, 

including capital and share premium, amounted to SIXTY THOUSAND NINE HUNDRED AND 
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FORTY EUROS AND FORTY-FOUR CENTS (€ 60,940.44).   

On September 12th, 2024, the Company conducted an additional capital call increase that was 

fully subscribed at FOUR MILLION AND TWO EUROS (€ 4,000,002). The shares were issued with 

a total share premium of FOUR MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED NINETY-ONE THOUSAND SEVEN 

HUNDRED NINETY-ONE EUROS (€4,791,792). The consideration for the capital increase, 

including capital and share premium, amounted to EIGHT MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED NINETY-

ONE THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED NINETY-FOUR EUROS (€ 8,791,794). 

Likewise, on the same date, it was agreed to opt for the application, with effect from the tax 

period beginning on January 1st, 2023, of the special tax regime for SOCIMI's provided for in Law 

11/2009, of October 26th. Additionally, it is agreed to create a corporate website with the URL 

web address: www.wellnessresortsocimi.es 

8.2 Updated financial information close to the date of the Information Document 

To provide updated financial information close to the date of incorporation of the Company, the 

Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Statement as of September 30th, 2024 are detailed below. The 

information detailed below is not audited information and has not been subject to review by an 

independent expert. 

 

8.2.1 Summary of income statement 

The profit and loss as of September 30th, 2024: 

Profit and Loss Statement (€) 
Sep 30th 

2024 

CONTINUING OPERATIONS  

Revenue - 

Other operating income - 

Staff costs - 

Other operating expenses (1,406,296) 

External services (1,406,296) 

Taxes - 

Losses, impairment and change in trade provisions - 

Fixed asset depreciation - 

Other profit/(loss) - 

Operating profit/(loss) (1,406,296) 
  

Financial income - 

Financial expenses (491,581) 

Net financial income/(expense) (491,581) 

Profit/(loss) before tax (1,897,877) 

Income tax - 

Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations (1,897,877) 
  

http://www.wellnessresortsocimi.es/
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Other expenses are increased corresponding mainly to manager fees, legal advisors’ costs, 

notary costs, and operating costs. Financial expenses correspond to accrued interests, since 

on July 25th, 2024, Wellness signed the Loan Agreement and drawdown SIXTEEN MILLION 

SIXTY-SEVEN THOUSAND FOUR HUNDRED AND SEVENTY EUROS (€ 16,675,470). 

 

8.2.2 Summary of balance sheet 

The balance sheet as of September 30th, 2024, includes the following: 

Balance Sheet 
Sep 30th 

2024 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 18,374,820 

Real Estate Investment 18,374,820 

    Land 15,000,000 

    Buildings 3,374,820 

CURRENT ASSETS  

Trade and other receivables- 3,618,379 

Other credits with Public Administrations 3,618,379 

Cash and cash equivalents- 7,601,104 

Cash and banks 7,601,104 

Total Assets 29,594,304 
  

EQUITY  

Treasury stock (60,000) 

Share capital 5,718,208 

Reserves (785) 

Other shareholders contributions 1,433,723 

Share premium 5,344,526 

Profit/(loss) for the previous year (177,010) 

Profit/(loss) for the year (1,897,877) 

Total equity 10,360,785 
  

CURRENT LIABILITIES 4,550,911 

Short term debts 3,163,357 

Trade and other receivables 1,387,554 

  

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 14,682,608 

Long term debt 14,682,608 

  

Total Equity and Liabilities 29,594,304 
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Assets 

Non-current assets changes correspond to the Plot acquired by the Company at FIFTEEN 

MILLION EUROS (€ 15,000,000). Since then, some costs related to construction works of the 

Asset have been paid such as licenses, architects, technical engineer, among other. Trade and 

other receivables correspond to the VAT credits held with the Spanish Treasury. In current 

assets, cash and cash equivalents has increased due to capital increases during the year 2024. 

 

Liabilities 

Non-current liabilities include the amount disbursed from the Loan Agreement and current 

liabilities including i) a VAT credit facility of THREE MILLION FIVE HUNDRED THOUSAND EUROS 

(€ 3,500,000) and ii) the unpaid fees of the Manager as of September 2024. On July 25th, 2024, 

the Company signed a Loan Agreement for financing the of the acquisition of the Plot and for 

the construction of the Project. As of September 30th, 2024, the amount drawn down from 

the Loan Agreement is of SIXTEEN MILLION SIX HUNDRED SEVENTY-FIVE THOUSAND FOUR 

HUNDRED AND SEVENTY EUROS (€ 16,675,470). 

Equity 

During 2024, the Company has carried out capital increases, including capital and share 

premium,amounting to EIGHT MILLION EIGHT HUNDRED FIFTY-TWO THOUSAND SENVETY 

HUNDRED AND THIRTY-FOUR EUROS AND TWENTY-ONE CENTS (€ 8,852,734.21) Adding to 

this, mention that from 30th September, there were no other changes in equity or changes in 

equity other than those arising from capital transactions with owners and distribution to 

owners of required by applicable GAAP. 

8.3 Principles, rules and accounting methods 

The attached financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Spanish 

Commercial Code and the remaining commercial legislation, the General Accounting Plan 

approved by Royal Decree 1514/2007, of November 16th, 2007 and by the Rules for the 

Formulation of the Consolidated Annual Accounts approved by Royal Decree 1159/2010, of 

September 17th, and the rest of the Spanish accounting regulations that are applicable in a way 

that states the faithful image of the patrimony, the financial situation, the results of its 

operations, the changes in the shareholders' equity and the cash flows of the Company 

corresponding to the annual period ended on December 31st, 2023. 

8.4 Scheduled date for first publication of earnings figures 

The first publication of the Company’s financial consolidated statements following the listing 

admission will correspond with the 2024 consolidated audited financial statements, is expected 

in May 2025, before the Shareholders’ Annual General Meeting Announcement that is expected 

to be held in June of the same year, 
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9 Other Relevant information 

This Information Document will be available on the Issuer’s website not later than two business 

days prior to the first trading day. 

 

There are no legal and arbitration proceedings at the date of publication of the Information 

document. 

 
 

10 Listing sponsor 

RENTA 4 CORPORATE, S.A. 

74 Paseo de la Habana, 28036 (Madrid) 

Phone number: +34 91 384 85 00 

https://www.corporate.r4.com/ 

 

Renta 4 declares that, “to the best of our knowledge, the information provided in the Information 

Document is accurate and that, to the best of our knowledge, the Information Document is not 

subject to any (material) omissions, and that all relevant information is included in the 

Information Document”.   

https://www.corporate.r4.com/
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11  APPENDIX I: Financial Statements for the fiscal year ended on December 31st, 

2023, and auditors report 

 
 
 



 
 
 

Wellness Resorts SOCIMI, S.A. 
 

Auditor’s report 
Abbreviated annual accounts  
at December 31, 2023 
 



 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L., Torre PwC, Pº de la Castellana 259 B, 28046 Madrid, España 

Tel.: +34 915 684 400 / +34 902 021 111, Fax: +34 915 685 400, www.pwc.es  1 
 
R. M. Madrid, hoja M-63.988, folio 75, tomo 9.267, libro 8.054, sección 3ª 
Inscrita en el R.O.A.C. con el número S0242 - NIF: B-79031290 

This version of our report is a free translation of the original, which was prepared in Spanish. All possible 
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Independent auditor's report on the abbreviated annual 
accounts 

  
  
To the shareholders of Wellness Resorts SOCIMI, S.A. at the request of the management 
  
 

Opinion 

 
We have audited the abbreviated annual accounts of Wellness Resorts SOCIMI, S.A. (the Company), 
which comprise the abbreviated balance sheet as at 31 December 2023, and the abbreviated income 
statement and related abbreviated notes for the year then ended. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying abbreviated annual accounts present fairly, in all material respects, 
the equity and financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2023, as well as its financial 
performance for the year then ended, in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework 
(as identified in note 2.1 of the notes to the abbreviated annual accounts), and in particular, with the 
accounting principles and criteria included therein. 
 

Basis for opinion 

 
We conducted our audit in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the 
audit of the abbreviated annual accounts section of our report. 
 
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements, including those 
relating to independence, that are relevant to our audit of the abbreviated annual accounts in Spain, in 
accordance with legislation governing the audit practice. In this regard, we have not rendered services 
other than those relating to the audit of the accounts, and situations or circumstances have not arisen 
that, in accordance with the provisions of the aforementioned legislation, have affected our necessary 
independence such that it has been compromised. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 
 

Most relevant aspects of the audit 

 
The most relevant aspects of the audit are those that, in our professional judgment, were considered 
to be the most significant risks of material misstatement in our audit of the abbreviated annual 
accounts of the current period. These risks were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
abbreviated annual accounts as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these risks. 
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Most relevant aspects of the 
audit                                         

How our audit addressed the most relevant 
aspects of the audit 

Valuation of investment properties   
    

The Company’s  investment properties amount to 
1,720,240 euros at 31 December  2023, 
representing approximately 81% of its assets at 
that date. As described in note 5 to the 
abbreviated annual accounts, these assets 
consist of 1,000,000 euros in advances and 
720,240 euros in associated costs incurred. 
 

As stated in note 4.1 to the accompanying 
abbreviated annual accounts, amounts paid on 
account of future acquisitions of investment 
properties are recorded under  assets, and 
adjustments arising from the discounting of the 
value of the asset associated with the advance 
give rise to the recognition of financial income as 
they accrue. In the case of advances maturing in 
less than one year and whose financial effect is 
not significant, it is not necessary to carry out any 
type of discounting. 
 

Whenever there is any indication that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable, management 
tests for impairment and, when appropriate, the 
corresponding corrections are included. The 
impairment loss is recognised for the excess 
between the carrying amount of the asset and its 
recoverable value, understood as the higher of  
fair value less cost of sales or value in use. 
 

We consider the valuation of investment property 
a relevant aspect of the audit due mainly to its 
significance and the inherent risk in relation to 
judgements and estimates that the valuation 
entails. 

For the acquisition of investment properties 
and advances recorded in the year, we verified 
the key supporting documentation, such as 
contracts, deeds of sale, or other documents 
that affect the value. 
 

We  verified that the maturity considered for 
each advance is consistent with the nature of 
the advance and we performed tests on the 
arithmetic calculation of the financial effect in 
order to assess its significance. 
 

Regarding potential impairment losses, we 
assessed whether specific events or changes 
in the market have occurred that affect the 
advances on investment properties disbursed 
in the year or construction in progress. 
 

Lastly, we assessed the sufficiency of the 
information disclosed in the abbreviated 
annual accounts 
 

The results of the procedures performed have 
enabled the audit objectives for which such 
procedures were designed to be reasonably 
attained 

    

Responsibility of the directors for the abbreviated annual accounts 
 

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the accompanying abbreviated annual accounts, 
such that they fairly present the equity, financial position and financial performance of the Company, in 
accordance with the financial reporting framework applicable to the entity in Spain, and for such 
internal control as the aforementioned directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
abbreviated annual accounts that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 

In preparing the abbreviated annual accounts, the directors are responsible for assessing the 
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the abbreviated annual accounts 
 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the abbreviated annual accounts as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's 
report that includes our opinion.  
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these abbreviated annual accounts. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the abbreviated annual accounts, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. 
 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 
 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the abbreviated annual accounts or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 
 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the abbreviated annual accounts, 
including the disclosures, and whether the abbreviated annual accounts represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 

We communicate with the entity's directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 
 
From the significant risks communicated with the entity's directors, we determine those risks that were 
of most significance in the audit of the abbreviated annual accounts of the current period and are, 
therefore, considered to be the most significant risks. 
 
We describe these risks in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter. 
 
  

PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. (S0242) 
  
 
  
Original in Spanish signed by Rafael Pérez Guerra (20738) 
 
30 October 2024
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ASSETS 
Notes to the 

Financial 
Statements 

At 31  
December 

2023 

    

NONCURRENT ASSETS   1,720,240.00 

    

Real estate investments  1,720,240.00 

    

CURRENT ASSETS   415,576.57 

      

Trade accounts receivable and other accounts receivable  293,273.65 

Other government receivables Note 10.1 293,273.65 

Current financial investments  4,374.29 

Other financial assets Notes 6.1.1  4,374.29 

Cash and cash equivalents  117,928.63 

Banks  Note 7 117,928.63 

   

TOTAL ASSETS   2,135,816.57 

 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Notes to the 

Financial 
Statements 

At 31 
December 

2023 

    

EQUITY  2,032,989 

    

Shareholders’ equity  2,032,989 

    

Capital  1,672,500.00 

Authorised capital Note 8 1,672,500.00 

   

Share premium  537,500.00 

   

Result of the financial year Note 3 (177,011) 

    

CURRENT LIABILITIES  102,827 

    

Trade accounts payable and other accounts payable  102,827 

Sundry creditors Note 6.2.1 102,816 

Other government debts Note 10.1 11 

   

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  2,135,817 

 
Notes 1 to 15 to the enclosed abridged financial statements form an integral part of the abridged 

financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023. 
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNTS 
Notes to the 

Financial 
Statements 

From 20 April to 
31 December 2023 

    

Other operating expenses  (177,010.75) 

    

Outsourcing Note 11 (177,010.75) 

    

OPERATING RESULT   (177,010.75) 

FINANCIAL RESULT   - 

PRE-TAX PROFIT OR LOSS   (177,010.75) 

Corporation tax Note 10.2 - 

RESULT OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR   (177,010.75) 

 
Notes 1 to 15 to the enclosed abridged financial statements form an integral part of the abridged 

financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023. 
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1. Company business 
 
Wellness Resorts SOCIMI, S.A. (“the Company”), is a company organised for an open-ended term 
under the laws of Spain on 20 April 2023 under the name Gaspigus Investments, S.A., with 
corporate tax ID code A-13677489. On 18 July 2023 the Company switched to its current name. 
The Company’s registered office is at Paseo de la Castellana, 91 planta 8, 28046, Madrid. 
 
In 2023 the Company began using the special procedure for listed real estate investment 
companies (Sociedades Anónimas Cotizadas de Inversión en el Mercado Inmobiliario, or 
“SOCIMIs”) regulated by Spanish Act 11/2009 of 26 October regulating listed real estate 
investment companies (“the SOCIMI Act”). 
 
The Company engages in the following business activities: 
 

a) Acquisition and development of urban real estate for leasing. The development 
business includes building refurbishment in the meaning of Spanish Act 37/1992 of 28 
December on VAT, as subject to amendment from time to time. 
 

b) Investment in the capital of other SOCIMIs or other entities that are not Spanish 
residents but have the same company purpose as SOCIMIs and are subject to a similar 
procedure as regards the mandatory profit distribution policy pursuant to the law or 
articles of association.  
 

c) Investment in the capital of other entities, regardless of Spanish residence status, that 
have the main company purpose of acquiring urban real estate for leasing, are subject 
to the same procedure as SOCIMIs as regards the mandatory profit distribution policy 
pursuant to the law or articles of association and comply with the investment 
requirements set in article 3 of the SOCIMI Act.  
 

d) Investment in collective real estate investment institutions regulated in Spanish Act 
35/2003 of 4 November on collective investment institutions or the legislation replacing 
Act 35/2003 in future.  

 
In addition to the business involved in the pursuit of its main purpose, the Company may engage 
in accessory activities. These are understood to be business activities whose revenues jointly 
account for less than 20 percent of the Company’s revenues in each filing period or business 
activities that may be regarded as accessory activities in accordance with the law applicable 
from time to time. 
 
The Framework Investment and Shareholder Agreement, the Earnest Money Agreement, the 
Development Management Agreement, the Lease and Management Agreement 
 
The Company is the vehicle for implementing an investment project regulated by a framework 
investment and shareholder agreement (“the Framework Investment and Shareholder 
Agreement”), which was made on 27 July 2023 by the Company, its shareholders and the 
manager. The purpose of the Framework Investment Agreement is to establish the terms and 
conditions governing the project (investment criteria, strategy and regulation), the relationship 
among shareholders and the operation, management and organisational structure of the 
Company. These are the main points of the agreement:  
 

• The investment project consists in a plan for the Company to acquire land for the 
development and promotion of a medical resort to be operated under a long-term lease 
by a company of recognised prestige in its industry (“the Project”). 
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On 27 July 2023, the Company signed an earnest money agreement (“the Earnest Money 
Agreement”) for the purchase of certain land in the municipality of Casares, subject to 
compliance with certain conditions precedent, namely: Any municipal licenses needed to start 
building the asset must be secured, and a construction estimate for developing the asset at 
market price must be obtained. 
 
For the development of the first-class healthcare resort, on 27 July 2023 the Company signed 
a development management agreement (“the Development Management Agreement” or “the 
DMA”) with a professional developer with sufficient resources and great experience executing 
similar projects. Under the DMA, the developer, as development manager, will fully develop 
the asset and deliver the asset to the Company ready for immediate use on a turnkey basis. 
 
The Company also signed a lease (“the Lease”) on 27 July 2023 with a leading healthcare resort 
operator leasing the asset on a long-term basis for operation under the lessee’s own brand.  
 
Furthermore, on 27 July 2023, the Company signed a management agreement (Management 
Agreement) with Altamar Real Estate, S.L.U. (“the Manager”), delegating the ordinary, 
administrative and financial management of the Company and the work of supervising and 
monitoring the development of the Project to the Manager.  
 
No commissions have been earned under the Management Agreement at 31 December 2023. 
 
SOCIMI PROCEDURE: 
 
On 15 September 2023, the Company notified the Spanish Tax Agency that it had chosen to use 
the SOCIMI procedure. 
 
Effective for financial years beginning as of 1 January 2023, Spanish Act 11/2021 of 9 July on 
measures to prevent and combat tax fraud amends article 9.4 of the SOCIMI Act. More 
specifically, it introduces a special 15% tax on the amount of undistributed profits earned in 
the financial year. This tax applies to the portion of profits that comes from: a) revenue not 
taxed at the general corporation tax rate and b) revenue not stemming from the conveyance 
of qualified assets, after the end of the three-year maintenance period, which have been 
classified into the three-year reinvestment period stipulated in article 6.1b) of Act 16/2012 of 
27 December. This special 15% tax is regarded as corporation tax payable and accrues on the 
date when the shareholders’ meeting or equivalent body resolves to distribute profits. The tax 
self-assessment must be filed and payment must be made within two months of the accrual 
date. 
 
Moreover, article 3 of the SOCIMI Act sets certain requirements for SOCIMIs: 
 

i. Company purpose obligation: SOCIMIs’ main company purpose must be the holding 
of urban real estate for leasing, investment in other SOCIMIs or companies having 
a similar purpose and sharing the same profit distribution procedure, and collective 
investment institutions. 
 

ii. Investment obligation: SOCIMIs must invest at least 80% of their assets in real 
estate for leasing, land for the development of real estate for leasing provided that 
the development is started within three years of purchase, and investments in the 
capital of other entities that pursue a company purpose similar to that of SOCIMIs 
and follow the same dividend distribution procedure. 
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- In addition, 80% of their revenues in the filing period must come from: (i) real 

estate leasing and/or (ii) dividends on investments earmarked for compliance 
with their company purpose. The percentage is calculated on the basis of the 
consolidated profit and loss account if the SOCIMI is the parent of a group 
according to the criteria set in article 42 of the Spanish Commercial Code, 
regardless of residence and regardless of the obligation to file consolidated 
financial statements. Such a group would be made up exclusively of the SOCIMI 
and the other entities referred to in article 2.1 of Act 11/2009. With its current 
structure, the Company has no group in the meaning of article 42 of the 
Commercial Code. 
 

- The real estate must remain under lease for at least three years (these three 
years may include up to one year of the time during which the real estate has 
been available to let). Moreover, investments in entities that result in 
compliance with the company purpose must remain in the SOCIMI’s assets for 
at least three years. 

 
iii. Obligation of trading on a regulated market: SOCIMIs must be admitted to trading 

on a regulated market or in a multilateral trading system, in Spain or in any other 
country with which Spain exchanges tax information. The shares must be registered 
shares. On the date when these financial statements were prepared, the Company’s 
shares were not listed on any regulated market or any multilateral trading system. 
 

iv. Obligation to distribute profits: After complying with commercial requirements, 
the SOCIMI must distribute any profits earned in the financial year, as dividends. 
The distribution resolution must be made within six months of the close of the 
financial year, in the following terms: 
 
- 100% of the profits from dividends or shares in profits distributed by the entities 

referred to in article 2.1 of Act 11/2009. 
 

- At least 50% of the profits from the conveyance of properties and 
shares/holdings as referred to in article 2.1 of Act 11/2009, conveyed after the 
minimum ownership periods, owned for the purpose of complying with the main 
company purpose. The rest of these profits must be reinvested within three 
years of the conveyance date in other properties or corporate interests 
purchased for the purpose of complying with the main company purpose. 
 

- At least 80% of all other profit earned. When the dividends paid out are drawn 
from reserves funded with the profits of a financial year in which the special 
tax procedure was applied, it is mandatory for the dividend payment to take 
the form described above. 

 

v. Reporting obligation: SOCIMIs must include the information required by tax 
legislation on the special procedure for SOCIMIs in the notes to their financial 
statements. 
 

vi. Minimum capital: The minimum share capital is five million euros. 
 

Transitional Provision One of the SOCIMI Act allows the tax procedure for SOCIMIs to be applied 
as established in article 8 of the SOCIMI Act even if the requirements are not met on the 
SOCIMI’s incorporation date, provided that the requirements are met within two years of the 
date when the SOCIMI opts to apply the SOCIMI tax procedure. In this sense, the Board of 
Directors of the Company estimates that all requirements will be met before the two years are 
up. 
  



WELLNESS RESORTS SOCIMI, S.A. 
Abridged notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 

 

6 

 

 
The corporation tax rate for SOCIMIs is 0%. However, when the dividends a SOCIMI pays to 
shareholders who hold over a 5% interest in the company are exempt or are taxed at under 10%, 
the SOCIMI is subject to a special 19% tax (regarded as corporation tax liability) on the amount 
of dividends paid to those particular shareholders. When this special tax applies, the SOCIMI 
must pay it within two months of the dividend payment date. 
 
At 31 December 2023, the Company partially complies with the SOCIMI Act requirements. The 
directors anticipate full compliance within two years of having first begun to use the special 
procedure. 

2. Basis of presentation of the abridged financial statements 
 

2.1. Legislative framework 

The enclosed abridged financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 
were prepared in accordance with the regulatory framework on financial reporting that applies 
to the Company. The components of this framework are: 
 

- The Spanish Commercial Code and all other corporate laws that apply in Spain. 
 

- The General Chart of Accounts passed by Royal Decree 1514/2007 of 16 November and 
the amendments made to it by Royal Decree 1159/2010 of 17 September, Royal Decree 
602/2016 of 2 December and Royal Decree 1/2021 of 12 January. 

- The mandatory rules approved by the Institute of Accounting and Account Auditing. 
 

- Other applicable Spanish accounting rules and regulations. 

 

2.2. True and fair view 

The enclosed abridged financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 
were prepared by the directors on the basis of the Company’s accounting records and are 
presented in accordance with the applicable legislative framework on financial reporting and 
particularly the accounting principles and criteria contained therein, to give a true and fair 
view of the Company’s equity, financial position and results. 

 

2.3 Critical aspects of measuring and estimating uncertainty 

To prepare the abridged financial statements, the Company directors must use certain 
estimates and forward-looking judgments. These estimates and judgments are kept under 
constant evaluation and are based on past experience and other factors considered reasonable 
under the circumstances. 

While these estimates were made on the basis of the best information available at the close of 
the 2023 financial year, future events may make it necessary to adjust estimates upward or 
downward in financial years to come. If so, these adjustments will be made prospectively, and 
the effects of the adjustment will be recognised in the abridged profit and loss account. 

The main hypotheses about the future and other significant sources of uncertainty in the 
estimates at the reporting date concern these subjects: 

a. Measurement of the value and impairment of real estate investments (Note 4.1). 
b. Evaluation of litigation, commitments, assets and liabilities that were contingencies on 

the closing date (Note 9). 
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c. Anticipated compliance with SOCIMI procedure conditions and corporation tax expense 
under the rules and regulations that apply to companies using the SOCIMI procedure 
(Note 14). 

The Company uses the procedure established in Act 11/2009 of 25 October regulating 
listed real estate investment companies (SOCIMIs). In practice this means that, when it 
complies with certain requirements, the Company qualifies for a corporation tax rate 
of 0%. The directors monitor compliance with these legislative requirements. The 
directors’ estimate is that these requirements are being met or will be met in the terms 
and by the deadlines set by law. 

2.4.  Comparative information 

The Company was organised in 2023 (see Note 1). Therefore, these abridged financial 
statements are the Company’s first financial statements, and for that reason comparative 
figures are not reported. 

Furthermore, as stated in Note 1, the Company was organised on 20 April 2023. Accordingly, 
the abridged profit and loss account includes all transactions occurring between 20 April 2023 
and 31 December 2023.  

2.5. Grouping of items 

Certain items on the abridged balance sheet and the abridged profit and loss account are 
aggregated for better ease of understanding. Where significant, disaggregated information has 
been included in the abridged notes to the financial statements. 

 

2.6. Going concern basis 

At 31 December 2023, the Company has 312,749.25 euros in working capital. 

The Company directors track the Company’s cash position using a cash projection covering the 
cash flow earmarked for the investments needed to construct the building and the cash flow 
from the capital provided by investors and financing. 

The Company directors have prepared these abridged financial statements on a going concern 
basis. This means they assume the Company’s assets will be recovered and its liabilities will be 
settled at the amounts and according to the classifications shown on the enclosed abridged 
balance sheet, and they feel that the operating cash flows generated and the financing sources 
used (capital and debt) mitigate any uncertainty over the continuity of the Company’s business. 

2.7. Changes in accounting principles 

 
Since these are the Company’s first abridged financial statements, no significant changes in 
accounting principles were made in the financial year ended 31 December 2023. 
 

2.8. Nonmandatory accounting principles applied 

 
No nonmandatory accounting principles were applied. In addition, the directors prepared these 
financial statements bearing in mind all mandatory accounting principles and standards having 
a significant effect on the abridged financial statements. There are no mandatory accounting 
principles that were not applied. 
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3. Profit distribution 
 

3.1. Proposed distribution 

 
The following is the profit distribution the Company directors propose for the period between 
20 April 2023 and 31 December 2023 and will submit to the Shareholders’ Meeting for approval: 
 
 

    2023 

Balance   

  Profit/(loss) for the year (177,010.75) 

      

Distribution:   

  Accrued losses (177,010.75) 

    (177,010.75) 

 

3.2. Dividend distribution restrictions 

The Company is obligated to allocate 10% of the profits of the financial year to its legal reserve 
until the legal reserve is equal to at least 20% of the share capital. Until this reserve exceeds 
the threshold of 20% of the share capital, it cannot be distributed to shareholders. 

Because it is classified as a SOCIMI for tax purposes, the Company is obligated by article 6 of 
the SOCIMI Act to distribute the profit earned in the financial year to its shareholders in the 
form of dividends, after having fulfilled its obligations under commercial law. 

4. Recognition and measurement 
 

4.1. Real estate investments 

The Company classifies as real estate investments all noncurrent assets that are real property 
and are held for the purpose of earning rent, earning capital gains or earning both rent and 
capital gains, instead of  

a. for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes, 
or  

b. for sale in the ordinary course of business.  

Land and buildings whose future uses are not yet decided when they become Company assets 
are also classified as real estate investments. 

Initial measurement 

The property, plant and equipment criteria for land and buildings are used to measure the value 
of real estate investments. These criteria are the following: 

− Empty lots are valued at their purchase price plus expenses such as fencing, earthwork, 
sanitation and drainage work, demolition of buildings when necessary in order to raise new 
buildings, the costs of pre-purchase inspections and plans, and the initial estimate of the 
present value of present obligations stemming from the costs of refurbishing the lot. 
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- Buildings are valued at their purchase price or production cost, including systems and 
permanent elements, fees inherent in construction and fees charged by the designing and 
supervising architects. 

Joint land-and-building leases are classified as operating leases or financing leases according 
to the same criteria as are used to classify leases of other types of assets.  

Subsequent measurement 

After initial recognition, real estate investments are valued at their cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment write-downs, if any. 

Repairs that do not extend the useful life of the asset and maintenance costs are booked as 
expenses on the abridged profit and loss account in the financial year when they occur. 
Enlargement or improvement expenses that give rise to an increase in production capacity or a 
longer useful life, on the other hand, are added to the value of the asset. 

Real estate investments are depreciated on a straight-line basis, and the cost of the assets is 
distributed evenly over each asset’s useful life. 

The estimated useful life of real estate investments is shown below. 

Description Years % Per Annum 

Buildings 50 2% 

Plant 10 10% 

Profit or loss on the sale or retirement of an asset is found as the different between the asset’s 
net carrying value and its selling price and is recognised on the abridged profit and loss account 
under “Impairment and profit/(loss) on disposal of fixed and other noncurrent assets”. 

Impairment 

On the closing date of each financial year, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its 
real estate investments in search of any signs that the assets have lost value due to impairment. 
When signs of impairment are found, the Company analyses each real estate investment to 
determine if its recoverable amount has fallen below its carrying value. 

An asset’s recoverable amount is either its fair value less its selling cost or its value in use, 
whichever is larger. Value in use is defined as the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows that will be foreseeably generated by continued use of the asset and estimated future 
cash flows from the asset’s sale or disposal (if the Company expects to sell or otherwise dispose 
of the asset), factoring in the asset’s present condition and applying a discount according to 
risk-free market interest rates, adjusted according to any risks specific to the asset that have 
not already been reflected in adjustments of estimated future cash flows. 

A property’s value in use is not necessarily identical to the property’s fair value, because the 
value in use is due to factors specific to the Company, mainly the Company’s ability to demand 
a price above or below market levels due to having assumed various risks or having reduced 
costs (construction or marketing costs, costs of real estate investments in progress, remodelling 
costs, maintenance costs, etc.) other than those linked to companies in its industry generally. 

The carrying value of the Company’s real estate investments is adjusted at the end of each 
financial year. Any impairment loss is then recognised with a view to adjusting the carrying 
value to match the recoverable amount, if fair value is less than the carrying value.  

When an impairment loss is later reversed, the asset’s carrying value is increased to the 
adjusted estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount, without allowing the increased carrying 
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value to rise above the carrying value that would have been calculated if the impairment loss 
had never been recognised to begin with. Impairment loss reversals are recognised as income. 

Financial expenses directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of items of property, 
plant and equipment that require more than one year to ready for use are added to the asset’s 
cost until the asset is in operating condition. 

Real estate investments in progress 

Sums paid on account toward future acquisitions of real estate investments are listed on the 
asset side of the balance sheet, and adjustments made when the value of the associated asset 
is updated are recognised as financial income as they accrue. No updates are necessary for 
prepayments maturing in less than one year whose financial effect is insignificant. 
 
Prepayments are derecognised when the real estate investments (whether in progress or 
finished) are included in the Company’s equity. If there are any doubts that the Company will 
be able to recover the carrying value of a prepayment, the Company books the impairment loss 
according to the same procedure as for real estate investments.  

 

4.2. Financial instruments 

The Company records contracts that result in a financial asset in one company and at the same 
time a financial liability or equity instrument in another company under the heading of 
“Financial instruments”. 

Financial instruments are classified according to the business model for managing financial 
assets and liabilities. 

 4.2.1. Financial assets at amortised cost 

This category includes trade and non-trade receivables. 

a) Trade receivables: financial assets created at the sale of goods or rendering of services 
in trade operations, where the payment receivable is deferred. 

b) Non-trade receivables: financial assets that have fixed or determinable payments, are 
not equity instruments or derivatives, are not of commercial origin, and stem from 
transactions where the Company extends a loan or credit. 

Initial measurement 

Financial assets in this category are initially measured at their fair value, which is the 
transaction price unless there is evidence to show otherwise. The transaction price is equivalent 
to the fair value of the consideration delivered plus directly attributable transaction costs. 

Nevertheless, trade receivables that mature within a year and do not have an explicit 
contractual rate of interest and loans to staff, dividends receivable and calls on equity 
instruments that are expected to be collected in the short term are recognised at face value 
when the effect of not discounting cash flows is insignificant. 
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Subsequent measurement 

Financial assets in this category are measured at their amortised cost. Accrued interest is shown 
on the profit and loss account at the effective interest rate. 

However, receivables that mature within a year, which are measured initially at face value, 
continue to be measured at face value unless they have undergone impairment. 

When the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are adjusted because the issuer is 
experiencing financial difficulties, the Company considers the possibility of recognising an 
impairment loss. 

Impairment 

Necessary value adjustments are made at the close of the financial year, if not more often, and 
whenever there is objective evidence that the carrying value of an investment is not 
recoverable. 

Generally speaking, impairment loss is the difference between an asset’s carrying value and its 
recoverable amount, which the greater of its fair value minus selling costs or the present value 
of future cash flows stemming from the investment, which are calculated in the case of equity 
instruments either by (a) estimating the cash flows the Company expects to receive at the 
payment of dividends by the investee and from the disposal or retirement of the investment, 
or (b) estimating the Company’s share of the cash flows the Company expects the investee to 
generate from its ordinary business and from asset disposal or retirement. 

Impairment write-downs and their reversal when the loss is reduced due to causes related with 
some subsequent event are recognised as expense or income, respectively, on the abridged 
profit and loss account. Impairment reversal is limited to the carrying value that would have 
been recognised on the reversal date if the asset’s impairment had never been registered. 

 4.2.2. Financial liabilities at amortised cost 

This category includes trade and non-trade payables.  

a) Trade payables: financial liabilities created at the purchase of goods and services in 
trade operations where payment is deferred. 

b) Non-trade payables: financial liabilities that are not derivatives and are not of 
commercial origin, but instead are created through transactions whereby loans or 
credits are extended to the Company. 

c) Equity loans sharing the traits of an ordinary or common loan are also included in this 
category, regardless of the interest rate agreed upon (zero or below-market). 

Initial measurement  

Financial liabilities in this category are initially measured at their fair value, which is the 

transaction price. The transaction price is equivalent to the fair value of the consideration 
received adjusted by directly attributable transaction costs. 

However, trade payables that mature within a year and do not have a contractual interest rate 
and calls on interest units by third parties that are expected to be paid in the short term are 
recognised at face value when the effect of not discounting cash flows is insignificant. 
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Subsequent measurement  

Financial liabilities in this category are measured at their amortised cost. Accrued interest is 
shown on the profit and loss account at the effective interest rate. 

However, payables that mature within a year, which are measured initially at face value, 
continue to be measured at face value. 

 

4.3.  Cash and cash equivalents 

 
This heading includes cash on hand, current accounts in banks and temporary deposits and 
acquisitions of assets that meet all the following requirements:  
 

- They can be converted into cash.  

- At the time of acquisition, they were scheduled to mature in three months or less. 

- They are not subject to a significant risk of change in value. 

- They form part of the Company’s normal cash management policy. 
 

4.4.  Functional currency 

 
The information in these notes is presented in euros, because the euro is the currency used in 
the Company’s main business environment. 
 

4.5. Corporation tax 

 
General procedure 
 
Corporate tax expense or income includes current tax expense or income and deferred tax 
expense or income. 
 
Current tax is the sum the Company pays on its corporation tax assessments for a financial year. 
Deductions and other reductions of corporation tax liability (not including withholdings and 
payments on account) and tax loss carryforwards applied in the present financial year reduce 
the amount of current tax owed. 
 
Deferred tax expense or income comes from the recognition and cancellation of deferred tax 
assets and liabilities. These include short-term differences in taxable income, which are 
identified as the sums anticipated to be payable or recoverable due to differences between the 
carrying value of assets and liabilities and their tax value, as well as tax loss carryforwards and 
credit for tax deductions not yet applied. These sums are found by applying the tax rate at 
which the Company expects to recover or pay them to the short-term difference in taxable 
income or credit (as applicable). 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable short-term differences in taxable income, 
except for those stemming from the initial recognition of goodwill or other assets and liabilities 
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit/(loss) nor the accounting profit/(loss) 
and is not a business combination. 
 
Deferred tax assets are only recognised when it is considered probable that the Company will 
have enough future taxable profits to be able to apply the deferred tax assets. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities created in transactions charged or credited directly to equity 
accounts are also entered with a balancing entry in net equity. 
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At each balance sheet close, the deferred tax assets are re-examined and adjustments are 
made to reflect any doubts about their future recoverability. Also, at each balance sheet close, 
any deferred tax assets not recorded on the balance sheet are assessed and are recognised if it 
has become probable that they will be recovered through future taxable profits. 
 
SOCIMI procedure 
 
On 15 September 2023, the Company informed the State Tax Administration Agency bureau for 
the territory containing the Company’s registered office that the Company had chosen to use 
the special SOCIMI tax procedure. 
 
Under Act 11/2009 of 26 October, amended by Act 16/2012 of 27 December and Act 11/2021 
of 9 July regulating listed real estate investment companies, organisations that meet the 
requirements laid out by legislation and choose to apply the special tax procedure provided for 
in the Act qualify generally for a 0% corporation tax rate. 
 
If the tax base is negative, article 26 of Act 27/2014 of 27 November on corporation tax does 
not apply. Also, the deduction and tax allowance system established in Chapters II, III and IV of 
Act 27/2014 are not applicable. On all other points not addressed by the SOCIMI Act, Act 
27/2014 on corporation tax is applied on a supplementary basis. 
 
The Company will be subject to a special tax rate of 19% of the sum of its dividends or shares 
in profits distributed to shareholders who hold an interest of 5% or more in the Company when 
those dividends are exempt from tax or the recipient shareholders have to pay less than 10% 
tax on the dividends. 
 
Additionally, effective for filing periods beginning as of 1 January 2021, the amendment made 
via final provision two of Act 11/2021 of 9 July introduced a new special tax rate of 15% on the 
amount of profits earned in the financial year and not distributed to shareholders, for the 
portion of profits that comes from revenue not taxed at the general corporation tax rate and 
revenue that does not count toward the reinvestment period regulated in article 6.1.b) of the 
SOCIMI Act. This tax is also considered corporation tax payable. 
 

4.6.  Income and expenses 
 
Income and expenses are recognised when they accrue, regardless of when the related 
monetary or financial flow occurs. 
 
Nevertheless, the Company only records profits earned at the closing date of the financial year. 
It records foreseeable risks and losses as soon as they become known, however, even if they 
are only potential. 
 

4.7. Related-party transactions 
 
As a general rule, transactions between group companies are initially recorded at fair value. If 
the price agreed to is different than fair value, the difference is recorded according to the real 
economic terms of the transaction. Subsequent measurements are conducted as outlined in the 
applicable standards. 
 
For the purpose of presenting normal corporate financial statements, it is understood that 
another company belongs to a company’s group when the two companies are linked by a direct 
or indirect controlling relationship comparable to that outlined in article 42 of the Commercial 
Code for corporate groups or when the two companies are somehow controlled by one or more 
natural or legal persons that act jointly or are steered as a unit by agreements or articles of 
association. 
 
The prices of transactions with related parties are suitably documented. Accordingly, the 
Company directors feel there are no risks that might lead to significant fiscal liabilities. 
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5. Real estate investments 

 

5.1. Real estate investments 

 
The breakdown of and variations in the real estate investment items at 31 December 2023 are 
the following: 
 

2023 
  Initial Balance Additions Retirements 31/12/2023  

Cost      

Prepayment - 1,000,000.00   1,000,000.00 

Buildings in progress - 720,240.00   720,240.00 

  - 1,720,240.00 - 1,720,240.00 
Accumulated depreciation      

Buildings - - - - 

Total depreciation - - - - 

       
Net carrying value - 1,720,240.00 - 1,720,240.00 

 
The investment project consists in a plan for the Company to acquire land for the development 
and promotion of a medical resort, which will be operated under a long-term lease by a 
company of recognised prestige in its industry. 
 
The additions to real estate investments in 2023 are the 1,000,000-euro Earnest Money 
Agreement the Company signed on 27 July 2023 to purchase land in Casares after complying 
with a series of conditions precedent established in the Earnest Money Agreement, i.e.: the 
licences needed to start building must be secured, and a construction estimate must be 
obtained for developing the asset at market price, as well as costs incurred during the financial 
year directly related with the property’s construction and development, like building permits. 
In connection with the prepayment, the Company will have the right to waive buying the land 
and recover its entire deposit if the conditions precedent are not satisfied. 
 
a) Impairment loss 
 
No impairment write-downs for any real estate investments were recognised or reversed in 
2023. 
 
b) Fully depreciated assets 
 
There are no fully depreciated items at 31 December 2023. 
 
c) Insurance 

 
The Company maintains a policy of taking all insurance necessary to cover potential risks to its 
property, plant and equipment. No insurance policy has been taken yet at 31 December 2023, 
because the land purchase has not yet gone through.  
 
d) Collateral 
 
At 31 December 2023, none of the Company’s real estate investments are used as collateral for 
any mortgages. 
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e) Obligations 

 
At the close of the financial year, the Company has no contractual obligations to buy, build or 
develop real estate investments and no contractual obligations for repairs, maintenance or 
insurance beyond those listed in these notes. 
 

6. Financial instruments 
 

6.1. Financial assets at amortised cost 

6.1.1. Current financial assets at amortised cost 

The entire balance under the heading “Other financial assets” consists of sums advanced on 
deposit for notarial work. These sums will be paid against the invoices that will be issued when 
the notarial work is done: 
 

   2023 

Other financial assets  4,374.29 

TOTAL  4,374.29 

 

6.2. Financial liabilities at amortised cost 
 

6.2.1. Current financial liabilities at amortised cost 
 
The balance at 31 December 2023 for each class of current financial liabilities at amortised 
cost is the following: 
 

   2023 

   

Sundry creditors  102,815.96 

   

TOTAL  102,815.96 

 
“Sundry creditors” consists of outstanding invoices from Company suppliers and advances paid 
toward invoices not yet received for services accruing in 2023. 

7. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
The balance of this heading at 31 December 2023 is the following: 
 

   2023 

Cash and cash equivalents  117,928.63 

Total  117,928.63 

8. Equity 
 

8.1. Share capital  
 
At 31 December 2023, the Company has 1,627,500 euros in share capital, represented by 
1,627,500 shares having a face value of 1 euro apiece. All shares belong to the same class and 
are fully subscribed and paid in. All shareholders have the same rights. 
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The variations in share capital in the 2023 financial year were as follows: 
 
The Company was organised on 20 April 2023 with 60,000 euros in share capital represented by 
60,000 shares having a face value of one euro apiece, numbered consecutively from 1 to 60,000, 
both inclusive. Twenty-five percent of the face value of all shares, i.e., 15,000 euros, was paid 
in. 
 
On 18 July 2023, the shares were all purchased by Altamar Real Estate, S.L.U., at the price of 
15,000 euros, to match the amount of the share face value paid in.  
 
On 4 August 2023, the Company’s sole shareholder paid in all outstanding capital, 45,000 euros, 
equal to 75% of the face value of all shares, numbers 1 to 60,000, both inclusive. In the same 
act, the sole shareholder increased the Company’s share capital by 1,612,500 euros by issuing 
and releasing 1,612,500 new shares having a face value of one euro apiece, numbered 
consecutively from 60,001 to 1,672,500, both inclusive. The new shares were issued with a total 
premium of 537,500 euros. 
 
The shareholders owning a significant interest (10% or more, or nearly 10%) in the Company at 
31 December 2023 are listed below. 
 

Shareholder Contributions % Capital Number of Shares 

INBEST GPF MULTI ASSET CLASS PRIME IV, S.A. 25.27%  422,708.00  
INBEST GPF MULTI ASSET CLASS PRIME II, S.A. 12.64%  211,354.00  
AYNET Vertriebs GmbH 9.48%  158,516.00  
   

 

8.2. Legal reserve and other reserves 
 
At 31 December 2023, the Company’s legal reserve holds a total of 0 euros.  
 
The Company has incurred losses since it was created. As a result, it has no obligation to 
allocate funds to its legal reserve. 
 
Under article 274 of Royal Legislative Decree 1/2010 of 2 July passing the revised Capital 
Company Act, the Company must set aside 10% of the profits of each financial year for the legal 
reserve until the legal reserve amounts to at least 20% of the share capital. The legal reserve 
can be used only for capital increases. Except for use in capital increases, until the legal reserve 
amounts to over 20% of the share capital, it may be used only to offset losses, and only if the 
Company does not have enough other reserves available to do so. 
 
Under the SOCIMI Act, the legal reserve of companies that use the special tax procedure 
established in the SOCIMI Act may not grow to over 20% of the share capital. The articles of 
association of such companies are not allowed to establish any other reserves. 

9. Provisions and contingencies 
 
At 31 December 2023, the Company was not aware of any contingencies or litigation in progress 
that might have a significant impact on the enclosed abridged financial statements. 

10. Tax situation 
 

10.1. Tax balances 
 
The breakdown of the final tax balances at 31 December 2023 is as follows: 
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   2023 

    Receivable Payable 
      

Value added tax   293,273.65 - 

Personal income tax withholdings and payments on account   - 11.36 
    

  

TOTAL   293,273.65 11.36 

 

10.2. Reconciliation of the accounting profit/(loss) and the tax base  
 
The reconciliation of the accounting profit/(loss) and the base for corporation tax in 2023 is as 
follows: 
 

   2023 

     

Pre-tax accounting profit/(loss)  (177,010.75) 

Long-term differences in taxable income  - 

Increases                -    

Reductions                -    

Short-term differences in taxable income                -    

Increases              -    

Reductions                -    

Tax base  (177,010.75) 

 

10.3.  Reconciliation of the accounting profit/(loss) and corporation tax expenses 

 
Corporation tax is calculated on the basis of the accounting profit or loss, which is found by 
applying generally accepted accounting principles. It does not necessarily match the taxable 
profit/(loss), which is the tax base. The reconciliation of the income and expenses of the 2023 
financial year and the tax base for corporation tax purposes is as follows: 
 

 Euros 

  Increases Reductions Total 

Pre-tax accounting profit/(loss)   (177,010.75) 

Long-term differences in taxable income - - - 
Short-term differences in taxable income - - - 

Tax base   (177,010.75) 

25% tax liability   - 

Total income/(expense) recognised on the 
abridged profit and loss account 

  - 

 

10.4. Financial years not yet reviewed and inspections 

 
According to current legislation, taxes cannot be considered definitively settled until the tax 
returns that have been filed have been inspected by the tax authorities or the four-year statute 
of limitations has passed. At the close of the 2023 financial year, all taxes applying to the 
Company since it was created remain open to inspection. The Company Directors believe that 
the correct tax assessments have been filed and that therefore, should any discrepancies arise 
in the interpretation of current legislation regarding the handling of transactions for tax 
purposes, any liabilities that might result would not significantly affect the enclosed abridged 
financial statements. 
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11.  Income and expenses 
 

11.1. Other operating expenses 

 
The “Outsourcing” heading of the enclosed abridged profit and loss account are made up of the 
following: 
 

 
  From 20 April to 31 

December 2023 

Services rendered by independent professionals 177,010.75 

Total 177,010.75 

 
The expenses listed under “Services rendered by independent professionals” are fundamentally 
notaries’ fees and registration fees related with the creation of the Company and fees earned 
in the structuring of the vehicle and the project. 

12. Related-party transactions and balances 
 

12.1. Related-party transactions 
 
At 31 December 2023, there is a total of 0 euros in related-party transactions. 

 

12.2. Balance and transactions with directors and senior management 
 
During 2023 the Company directors did not earn any remuneration whatsoever in their capacity 
as directors. 
 
No pension funds or pension plans for former or current members of the Company’s 
administrative governing body were funded, nor were any such obligations contracted during 
the financial year. 
 
The Company directors did not receive any remunerations whatsoever as a share in profits, nor 
were any liability insurance premiums paid in their name. They did not receive shares or share 
options during the financial year, nor do they own options that have yet to be exercised. 
Moreover, the Company had no senior management staff in the 2023 financial year.  
 

- On 27 July 2023, in public instrument number 1019, the Company accepted the 
resignation of its sole director, Altamar Real Estate, S.L.U., whose particulars are 
recorded in the Business Register, and changed the structure of the Company’s 
governing administrative body. The Company is now represented by an eight-member 
board of directors. 

 
Information on directors’ conflicts of interest 

 
During the 2023 financial year, neither the directors nor any persons related with the directors 
as defined in the Capital Company Act have notified the Company’s governing bodies of any 
direct or indirect conflicts with the Company’s interest. 
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13. Other information 
 

13.1.  Staff information 
 
The Company had no staff of its own in 2023. 
 

13.2. Audit fees 

 
The fees for account auditing services and other services rendered by the Company’s auditor, 
PriceWaterhouseCoopers, S.L., or by any company related with the auditor through a 
controlling interest, common ownership or management were the following in the 2023 
financial year: 

 

   2023 

Audit fees  10,000.00 

Total  10,000.00 

 

13.3. Average payment period 

 
In accordance with the sole additional provision of the Decision of 29 January 2016 of the 
Institute of Accounting and Account Auditing on the information to include in the notes to the 
financial statements in connection with the average length of time taken to pay suppliers in 
commercial transactions, the Company provides the following information on the financial year: 

 

   2023 

  Days 

Average supplier payment period  15.73 

   

 
Pursuant to the decision stated above, to calculate the average supplier payment period for 
these financial statements, account was taken of commercial transactions involving the 
delivery of goods or rendering of services accruing as of the date when Act 31/2014 of 3 
December went into effect. 
 
For the sole purpose of reporting the information at issue in the decision, trade accounts 
payable for debts with suppliers of goods or services included in the “Suppliers” and “Trade 
accounts payable” items on the current liabilities side of the enclosed abridged balance sheet 
at 31 December 2023 are considered suppliers. 

14. SOCIMI reporting requirements, Act 11/2009 
 

a) Reserves from financial years prior to the application of the tax procedure established 
in Act 11/2009, amended by Act 16/2012 of 27 December and Act 11/2021 of 9 July: 
The Company has no reserves on the books for previous financial years, because this is 
its first financial year and the year in which the Company has begun to apply the tax 
procedure. 

 
b) Reserves from financial years in which the tax procedure established in Act 11/2009, 

amended by Act 16/2012 of 27 December and Act 11/2021 of 9 July, differentiating 
between the portion that comes from revenue subject to the zero percent, 15 percent 
or 19 percent tax rate and that which comes from revenue (if any) taxed at the general 
rate: Not currently applicable. 
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c) Dividends paid out, drawn from profits of each financial year in which the tax procedure 

established in the SOCIMI Act has been applicable, differentiating between the portion 
that comes from revenue subject to the 0%, 15% or 19% tax rate and the portion that 
comes from revenue (if any) taxed at the general rate: The Company has not yet paid 
any dividends. 

 
d) Where dividends drawn from reserves have been paid out, statement of the financial 

year when the reserve thus applied was funded and whether they were taxed at 0%, 
15% or 19% or at the general rate: The Company has not yet paid any dividends. 

 
e) Date of the resolution to distribute the dividends referred to in letters c) and d) above: 

The Company has not yet paid any dividends. 
 

f) Date of purchase of the real estate for leasing and the investments in entities referred 
to in article 2.1 of this Act: The Company has not yet purchased any real estate for 
leasing. 
 

g) Identification of the asset that qualifies as part of the 80% referred to in article 3.1 of 
this Act: The Company does not recognise any revenue from rent or yields on 
investments in other qualified companies. 

 
h) Reserves from financial years in which the tax procedure applicable under this Act has 

been applicable, that have been drawn upon in the filing period, but not for distribution 
or to offset losses, identifying the financial year when said reserves were funded: Not 
currently applicable. 

15. Post-balance sheet events 
 

On 16 February 2024, the Manager asked the Company shareholders to pay in 900,006 euros in 
capital. The disbursement was structured as a shareholder contribution (account 118), with a 
payment deadline of 12 March 2024.  
 
Between 31 December 2023 and the date when these financial statements were prepared, no 
other significant events took place that might affect these financial statements or prove useful 
to a user of these financial statements to know. 
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